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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 

To the Shareholders of, 

Credius IFN S.A. 
 

Report on the Financial Statements   

 
Opinion 

 

1. We have audited the financial statements of Credius IFN S.A. (“the Company”), with registered office 
in Pipera boulevard, no 1/I, Voluntari town, Ilfov county, identified by the unique tax registration 

code RO31534882, which comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 2019 and the profit and 

loss account, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies and notes to the financial statements. 

 

2. The financial statements as at December 31, 2019 are identified as follows: 
 

 Net assets / Equity    RON  42,330,461 

 Net profit for the financial year   RON    5,235,157 
 

3. In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 

financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2019, and its financial performance and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with National Bank of Romania Order no. 6/2015, 

for the adoption of the Accounting Regulations in accordance with European directives, with 

subsequent amendments (“Order 6/2015”). 

 

Basis for Opinion 

 
4. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs), Regulation 

(EU) No. 537/2014 of the European Parliament and the Council (forth named “the Regulation”) and 

Law 162/2017 (“the Law”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are 

independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for 

Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), in accordance with ethical 
requirements relevant for the audit of the financial statements in Romania including the Regulation 

and the Law and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Emphasis of Matter – Subsequent events  
 

5. We draw attention to note 33 in the financial statements describing management`s evaluation of the 

potential impact of the effects of the COVID-19 on the Company. Our opinion is not modified in 
respect of this matter. 

 

Key Audit Matters 
 

6. Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 

our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 

we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  

http://www.deloitte.ro/
http://www.deloitte.com/ro/despre
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Interest and Similar Income Recognition  

Nature of the area of focus 
Procedures performed to support our 

discussions and conclusions 

As presented in the profit and loss account to the 

financial statements, the Company recorded 
interest and similar income in amount of 

thousand RON 57,498 the main source being 

loans granted to customers.  

While interest income is accrued over the life of 

the financial instrument using the contractual 

interest rate, the recognition of fee income 
received/ paid at the loan origination and which 

are deferred, are recognized on a straight-line 

basis to the interest income; 

Revenue recognition specifics, a high volume of 

small transactions which depends on the quality 

of interest and fee data inputs which are 
recognized as adjustments to interest income, 

resulted in this matter being identified as a key 

audit matter. 

 

We have assessed the design, implementation 

and operating effectiveness of the key manual 

internal controls and focused on: 

 validation of the existence of the loan 

agreements in the loan portfolio with 

contracts signed by customers; 

 validation of revenue recognition for loan 

agreements in the loan portfolio; 

We performed the following procedures with 

regard to interest and fee income which are 

recognized as interest income: 

 We evaluated the accounting treatment 

performed by the Company in respect of 

interest and similar income to determine 
whether the accounting methodology 

complies with the requirement of the 

relevant accounting standard (Order 
6/2015). We have considered the 

accuracy of the classification of: 

• fees that are identified as directly 
attributable to the financial 

instrument and are amortized 

during the life of the loan 

contracts; 

• fees that are recognized when the 

service is provided. 

 We analyzed the mathematical formula 

used for accruing the relevant income 

over the life of the loan contracts. 

 We designed our own expectation on the 

interest income and compared with the 

actual results of the Company. 

We evaluated the presentation in the financial 

statements of interest and fee income in 

accordance with the requirements of Order 

6/2015. 
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Other information – Administrators’ Report  
 

7. The Administrators are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the other information. 

The other information comprises the Administrators’ report, but does not include the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. 
 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019, our 

responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 

audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

 
With respect to the Administrators’ report, we read and report if this has been prepared, in all 

material respects, in accordance with the provisions of Order 6/2015 articles no. 225-228. 

 
On the sole basis of the procedures performed within the audit of the financial statements, in our 

opinion:  

 
a) the information included in the Administrators’ report for the financial year for which the 

financial statements have been prepared is consistent, in all material respects, with these 

financial statements; 
 

b) the Administrators’ report has been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the 

provisions of Order 6/2015 articles no. 225-228. 
 

Moreover, based on our knowledge and understanding concerning the Company and its environment 

gained during the audit on the financial statements prepared as at December 31, 2019, we are 
required to report if we have identified a material misstatement of this Administrators’ report. We 

have nothing to report in this regard.  

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the financial 

statements  

 
8. Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 

accordance with Order 6/2015 and for such internal control as management determines is necessary 

to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

 

9. In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 

using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 

Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 

10. Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 

process. 
 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the financial statements 

 
11. Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 

that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 

exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 

the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these financial statements. 



 
 

4 
 
 

12. As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 

audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 

not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 

override of internal control. 

 
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.   
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a 

going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 

attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 

evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 

may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 

the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 

13. We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 
14. We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 

relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 

relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards. 

 

15. From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are 

therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 

regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of 

such communication. 
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  
 

16. We have been appointed by the General Assembly of Shareholders on 3.05.2019 to audit the 

financial statements of Credius IFN S.A. for the financial year ended December 31, 2019. The 
uninterrupted total duration of our commitment is 5 years, covering the financial years ended 

December 31, 2015 until the December 31, 2019. 

 
We confirm that: 

 

 Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report submitted to the Audit Committee 
of the Company that we issued the same date we issued and this report. Also, in conducting 

our audit, we have retained our independence from the audited entity. 

 
 We have not provided for the Company the prohibited non-audit services referred to in 

Article 5(1) of EU Regulation no. 537/2014. 

 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Irina Dobre. 

 

 
Irina Dobre, Audit Partner 

 

 
 

 

 
 

Registered in the Electronic Public Register of Financial  

Auditors and Audit Firms under no. AF 3344 
 

On behalf of: 

 

DELOITTE AUDIT SRL 

 

Registered in the Electronic Public Register of Financial 
Auditors and Audit Firms under no. FA 25 

 

The Mark Building, 84-98 and 100-102 Calea Grivitei,  
8th Floor and 9th Floor, District 1 

Bucharest, Romania 
May 14, 2020 
 

For signature, please refer to the original 
signed Romanian version. 
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ASSETS Line 

Note 

Financial year  

  code previous ended 

A B C 1 2 

     

Petty cash and other cash 010  11,468 12,237 

Receivables from credit institutions  030 05 2,275,117 3,160,631 

- on demand 033  2,275,117 3,160,631 

- other receivables 036  - - 

Receivables from customers 040 06 46,056,744 66,310,858 

Bonds and other fixed-income securities  050  - - 

- issued by public bodies  053  - - 

- issued by other issuers, of which: 056  - - 

- own bonds  058  - - 

Shares and other variable income securities 060  - - 

Investments, of which: 070 29 1,169 3,075 

- investments in credit institutions 075  - - 

Shares in related commercial companies, of which: 080  - - 

- shares in credit institutions 085  - - 

Intangible assets, of which: 090 08 1,365,547 1,434,598 

- set-up expenses  093  - - 

- goodwill, if acquired under an onerous title 096  - - 

Property, plant and equipment, of which: 100 09 439,633 301,961 
- land and buildings used for the entity’s own 

activities 105  - - 

Other assets 120 10 4,515,337 2,146,815 

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 130   11 3,178,383 5,864,445 

     

Total assets 140  57,843,398 79,234,620 
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LIABILITIES Line 

Note 

Financial year  

  code previous ended 

A B C 1 2 

Liabilities to credit institutions 300 12 200,000 4,394,773 

- on demand 303  - - 

- term liabilities 306  
200,000 4,394,773 

Liabilities to customers 310 13 9,247,398 18,077,683 

- on demand 317  1,800,328 2,240,135 

- term liabilities 318  7,447,070 15,837,548 

Liabilities through securities  320  - - 

- bonds 323  - - 

- other securities 326  - - 

Other liabilities 330 14 3,286,350 3,030,145 

Deferred income and accrued expenses 340 15 3,849,147 5,892,898 

Provisions: 350 16 906,319 1,247,860 

- provisions for pensions and similar 
obligations  353  

- - 

- provisions for taxes  355  - - 

- other provisions  356  906,319 1,247,86 

Subordinated debts 360 12 3,258,880 4,260,800 

Share capital subscribed 370 17 35,896,854 35,896,854 

Share premiums 380  - - 

Reserves 390  842,678 1,281,874 

- legal reserves  392 27 805,905 1,245,101 

- statutory or contractual reserves  394  - - 

- other reserves 399 27 36,773 36,773 

Revaluation reserves 400  - - 

Own shares (-) 410  - - 

Retained earnings      

 - Profit 423  - 355,772 

 - Loss 426 18 1,115,687 - 

Result of the year     

 - Profit 433 18 1,782,210 5,235,157 

 - Loss 436  - - 

Profit allocation  440  310,751 439,196 

     

Total liabilities and equity 450  57,843,398 79,234,620 
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET ITEMS  Line 

Note 

Financial year  

  code previous ended 

A B C 1 2 

Contingent liabilities, of which: 600  - - 

 - acceptances and endorsements  603  - - 

 - pledged guarantees and assets 606  - - 

Commitments, of which: 610  233,106 81,600 

 - commitments related to sale transactions with 

possibility of buy-back  615  

- - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
These financial statements were signed and approved today, May 14, 2020, by: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
CEO,     Prepared by, 
Buzgan Andrei  Nistor Simona-Mihaela 

Head of Financial and Accounting Department
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Caption Line 

Note 

Financial year  

  code previous ended 

A B C 1 2 

Interest receivable and similar revenues, of which: 010 19 59,861,433 57,498,000 

     - related to bonds and other fixed-income 
securities 015  

- - 

Interest payable and similar expenses 020 20 374,752 2,411,913 

Revenues from securities  030  - - 

      - Revenues from shares and other variable-
income securities 033  

- - 

      - Revenues from investments 035  - - 

      - Revenues from shares in related commercial 
companies 037  

- - 

Commission income  040 21 9,574 94,741 

Commission expenses 050 21 2,839,714 3,162,174 

Net profit or loss on finance operations  060 22 (172,876) (436,623) 

Other operating income 070 23 293,033 1,076,234 

General administrative expenses 080 24 15,921,224 14,857,145 

     - employee-related expenses, of which: 083  9,320,872 9,479,417 

           - salaries 084  8,647,703 8,714,358 

           - social security, of which: 085  429,858 525,582 

                - pension-related expenses  086  21,009 71,847 

     - Other administrative expenses 087  6,600,352 5,377,728 

Corrections of the value of tangible and intangible 
assets 090  

820,624 1,353,540 

Other operating expenses 100 26 2,204,283 2,012,735 

Corrections to the value of receivables and provisions 
for contingent liabilities and commitments 110 07 

57,884,692 57,269,620 

Reversals of corrections to the value of receivables 
and provisions for contingent liabilities and 
commitments  120 07 

26,269,139 31,618,692 

Corrections to the value of transferable securities in 
the form of financial assets, investments and shares 
in related commercial companies 130  

- - 

Reversals of corrections to the value of transferable 
securities in the form of financial assets, investments 
and shares in related commercial companies 140  

- - 

Result of current activity     

      - Profit 153  6,215,014 8,783,917 

      - Loss 156  - - 

Extraordinary income 160  - - 

Extraordinary expenses 170  - - 
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Caption Line 

Note 

Financial year  

  code previous ended 

A B C 1 2 

 Result of extraordinary activity      

      - Profit 183  - - 

      - Loss 186  - - 

     

Total revenues 190  86,260,303 89,851,044 

     

Total expenses 200  80,045,289 81,067,127 

Gross result     

      - Profit 213  6,215,014 8,783,917 

      - Loss 216  - - 

     

Income tax 220    27 4,432,804 3,548,760 

Other taxes not mentioned above 230  - - 

     

Net result of the financial year      

      - Profit 243  1,782,210 5,235,157 

      - Loss 246  - - 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
These financial statements were signed and approved today, May 14, 2020, by: 
 
 
 
 

 
 
CEO,     Prepared by, 
Buzgan Andrei  Nistor Simona-Mihaela 
  Head of Financial and Accounting Department 
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Equity item Note 

Balance as at 
January 1, 

2018 

Increases Reductions Balance as at 
December 31, 

2018 Total, of which by transfer Total, of which by transfer 

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

Capital subscribed   35,896,854 - - - - 35,896,854 

Share premiums   - - - - - - 

Legal reserves   502,188 303,718 303,718 - - 805,905 

Other reserves  - 36,773 - - - 36,773 

Retained earnings -  Loss not covered   (9,195,639) 8,201,291 8,201,291 - - (994,348) 
Retained earnings – adjustment of 
accounting errors Debit balance   (2,052) (140,669) (140,669) (21,382) - (121,339) 

Result of the financial year – Credit 
balance   8,696,445 1,782,210 140,669 8,696,445 8,696,445 1,782,210 
Result of the financial year - Debit 
balance  - - - - - - 

Profit allocation – Debit balance  (502,187) (310,751) (310,751) (502,187) (502,187) (310,751) 

 
Total equity  35,395,608 9,872,572 8,194,258 8,172,876 8,194,258 37,095,304 

 
 
 

 
 
These financial statements were signed and approved today, May 14, 2020, by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CEO,        Prepared by, 
Buzgan Andrei     Nistor Simona-Mihaela 
     Head of Financial and Accounting Department 
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Equity item Note 

Balance as at 
January 1, 

2019 

Increases Reductions Balance as at 
December 31, 

2019 Total, of which by transfer Total, of which by transfer 

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 
 

Capital subscribed   35,896,854 - - - - 35,896,854 

Share premiums   - - - - - - 

Legal reserves   805,905 439,196 439,196 - - 1,245,101 

Other reserves  36,773 - - - - 36,773 
Retained earnings -  Profit not 
distributed   - 1,471,459 1,471,459 - - 1,471,459 

Retained earnings -  Loss not covered   (994,348) - - - - (994,348 
Retained earnings – adjustment of 
accounting errors Debit balance   (121,340) - - - - (121,340) 
Result of the financial year – Credit 
balance  1,782,210 5,235,157 - 1,782,210 1,782,210 5,235,157 

Profit allocation – Debit balance  (310,751) (439,196) (439,196) (310,751) (310,751) (439,196) 

 
Total equity  37,095,304 6,706,616 1,471,459 1,471,459 1,471,459 42,330,461 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
These financial statements were signed and approved today, May 14, 2020, by: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
CEO,        Prepared by, 
Buzgan Andrei     Nistor Simona-Mihaela 
     Head of Financial and Accounting Department 
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Caption Line 

Note 

Financial year  

  code previous ended 

Net result 01   1,782,210 5,235,157 

Components of net result that do not generate 
cash flows related to operating activity       
± set up or settle impairment allowances and 
provisions  02   278,503 2,127,690 
+ amortization/depreciation expenses  03   820,621 1,273,994 
± other adjustments related to items that do not 
generate cash flows 04   31,337,050 23,523,238 
± adjustments related to items included in 

investing or financing activities 05   8,831 413,897 
± other adjustments 06   4,048,842 2,923,198 

Sub-total (rows 01 to 06) 07   38,276,057 35,497,174 

Changes in assets and liabilities related to 

operating activity subsequent to adjustments of 
the items that do not generate cash flows related 
to operating activity       
± securities that are not in the form of financial 
assets  08   - - 
± receivables from credit institutions 09   - - 
± receivables from customers 10   (40,773,353) (42,999,186) 
± related receivables 11   (353,319) (3,761,581) 
± other assets related to operating activity  12   (1,673,554) 1,316,347 
± liabilities to credit institutions  13   - - 
± liabilities to customers 14   787,420 439,806 
± related liabilities 15   116,881 148,266 

± other liabilities related to operating activity 16   2,267,827 1,639,281 
- cash payments of corporate income tax 17   (3,992,126) (3,374,281) 

Cash flows from operating activities (rows 
07 to 17)     (5,344,167) (11,094,174) 

 18     
Cash flows from investing activities     - - 
- cash payments for the payment of subsidiaries 
or other sub-units 19   - - 
+ cash proceeds from the sale of subsidiaries or 
other sub-units 20   - - 
+ cash proceeds representing dividends received 21   - - 
- cash payments for the purchase of securities in 
the form of financial assets 22   (967) (1,905) 
+ cash proceeds from the sale of securities in the 
form of financial assets 23   - - 

+ cash proceeds from interest received 24   - - 
- cash payments for the purchase of land and 
fixed assets, intangible assets and other non-
current assets  25   (809,165) (1,284,920) 
+ cash proceeds from the sale of land and fixed 
assets, intangible assets and other non-current 
assets 26   - 530,635 
- other cash payments related to investing 
activities 27   - - 
+ other cash proceeds from investing activities  28   - - 

Cash flows from investing activities (rows 19 
to 28) 

29 

 (810,132) (756,190) 
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Caption Line 

Note 

Financial year  

 code previous ended 

Cash flows from financing activities        
+ cash proceeds from liabilities arising from 
securities and subordinated debt  30   - - 

- cash payments related to liabilities arising 
from securities and subordinated debt 31   - - 
+ cash proceeds from issuance of shares  32   - - 
- cash payments for the purchase of shares 33   - - 
+ cash proceeds from the sale of shares  34   - - 
- dividend payments 35   - - 
- other cash payments related to financing 
activities  36   (4,846,700) (31,391,400) 
+ other cash payments from financing 
activities 37   11,123,939 44,564,670 

 
Cash flows from financing activities 

38 

  6,277,239 13,173,270 

(rows 30 to 37)     
 
Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the year  39   2,336,521 2,286,585 

± cash flows from operating activities (row 
18) 40   (5,344,167) (11,094,174) 
± cash flows from investing activities (row 
29) 41   (810,132) (756,190) 
± cash flows from financial activities (row 38) 42   6,277,239 13,173,270 
± Effect of FX changes on cash 43   (172,876) (436,623) 

 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 
the year 44 

 

  2,286,585 3,172,868 

(rows 39 to 43)     
 
 

Break-down of cash and cash equivalents 

Previous 
financial  

year  

Ended 
financial 

year 

   
Petty cash 11,468 12,237 
Current accounts with credit institutions 2,275,117 3,160,631 
Term deposits with credit institutions - - 

 
TOTAL 2,286,585 3,172,868 

 
 
 
 

 
These financial statements were signed and approved today, May 14, 2020, by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CEO,     Prepared by, 
Buzgan Andrei  Nistor Simona-Mihaela 
  Head of Financial and Accounting Department 
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1. REPORTING ENTITY 
 
Joint-stock company CREDIUS IFN (hereinafter referred to as "the Company") was registered with the Trade 
Registry Office of the Ilfov Tribunal on 19 April 2013 under no. J23/1231/2013, holding tax reference code 
31534882. The Company is established and operates for an unlimited duration, in accordance with the legal 

provisions in force.  
 
The abbreviated name of the company is CREDIUS IFN S.A.  
 
The Company carries out its activity through its headquarters, located in Voluntari, B-dul Pipera nr. 1/I, bl. 
ADMIN D+P+M+4E, et. 3+4, intrarea A, Ilfov County.  
 
As at December 31, 2018, the company registered 72 working points, of which 25 in Bucharest and the rest 
around the country (Pitesti, Iasi, Constanta, Ploiesti, Galati, Buzau, Cluj, Craiova, Braila, Piatra Neamt, Oradea, 
Botosani, Suceava, Brasov, Arad, Targu Mures, Petrosani, Targoviste, Targu Jiu, Slatina, Ramnicu Valcea, 
Bacau, Timisoara, Drobeta Turnu Severin, Hunedoara, Deva, Alexandria, Calarasi, Alba Iulia, Lugoj, Pascani).  
 

As at December 31, 2019, the company registered 66 working points, of which 7 in Bucharest and the rest 
around the country (Pitesti, Iasi, Constanta, Ploiesti, Galati, Buzau, Cluj, Craiova, Braila, Piatra Neamt, Oradea, 
Botosani, Suceava, Brasov, Arad, Targu Mures, Petrosani, Targoviste, Targu Jiu, Slatina, Ramnicu Valcea, 
Bacau, Timisoara, Hunedoara, Deva, Alexandria, Calarasi, Alba Iulia, Focsani, Medias, Campina, Campulung, 
Barlad, Lugoj, Pascani). 
 
The main activity of the company consists of “Other financial intermediation activities, excluding insurance and 
pension funds” (NACE group 649), the main activity of the Company being “other lending activities” (CAEN code 
6492) - consumer credit, without issuing credit cards.  
 
The company is registered in the General Register of the National Bank of Romania, under number RG-PJR-42-
110277 / 01.08.2013.  

 
The structure of the Company's shareholding is as follows: 
 

Shareholder 
Country 
of origin 

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2019 

Number of 
shares held 

Value of 
shares in 

RON 

Weight 
in share 
capital 

Number of 
shares 
held 

Value of 
shares in 

RON 

Weight 
in share 
capital 

Lapworth 
Holdings 
Limited Cyprus 35,892,936 35,892,936 99.989% 35,892,936 35,892,936 99.989% 
OCNICS 
Express 
Leasing & 
Microcredit 
SRL  

Republic 
of 
Moldova 3,918 3,918 0.011% 3,918 3,918 0.011% 

 
Total   35,896,854 35,896,854 100.00% 35,896,854 35,896,854 100.00% 

 
The parent-company is Lapworth Holdings Limited, and the ultimate parent-company is NCH Balkan Fund LP. 
 
The Company registered 165 employees as at December 31, 2018 and 169 employees as at December 31, 2019. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 
Statement of compliance 
 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management and have been prepared in 

accordance with: 
 
i. Order no. 6/2015 (“NBR Order no. 6/2015”), for the approval of accounting regulations compliant with 

European directives, applicable to non-banking financial institutions, as revised; 
 

ii. Accounting Law no. 82/1991, republished, as revised; 
 

iii. Regulation no. 5/2012 on the classification of loans and the establishment, adjustment, and use of 
specific credit-risk provisions applicable to entities supervised by the National Bank of Romania, other 
than credit institutions (“NBR Regulation no. 5/2012”). 

 
The Company carries out all the accounting records in accordance with the provisions of Order of the National 

Bank of Romania no. 6/2015, as revised, with Accounting Law no. 82/1991, as revised, as well as with all other 
regulations issued by the Ministry of Public Finance and by the National Bank of Romania, regarding the 
organisation and keeping of financial and accounting records. 
 
The financial statements at December 31, 2019 were prepared in accordance with Order of the National Bank of 
Romania no. 7/2016, as revised. 
 
The items included in the Company's financial statements are measured using the currency of the entity's main 
economic environment in which it operates (“the functional currency”). The functional currency of the financial 
statements is RON. All figures are presented in Romanian RON, rounded to 1 RON. 
 
These financial statements are the Company’s own and do not belong to any group. 

 
These financial statements were approved in May 2020. 
 
 
 
3. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES  
 
a) Going concern 
 
This principle implies that the Company continues to operate normally, without going into liquidation or 
significantly reducing its activity. In 2019, the Company registered an annual accounting profit of RON 

5,235,157, also setting up legal reserves of RON 439,196. 
 
These annual financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis. Based on the assessment made in 
Note 32 (Subsequent events) in the context of Covid-19, the Company will continue its activity in 2020. 
 
b) Accrual accounting 
 
The items presented in the annual financial statements are measured in accordance with the general accounting 
principles, on an accrual basis. Thus, the effects of transactions and other events are recognized when 
transactions and events occur (and not as cash or cash equivalents are earned or paid) and accounted for and 
reported in the financial statements of the related periods. Income and expenses that arise directly and 
simultaneously from the same transaction are recognised simultaneously in the accounting, by the direct 

association between the expenses and the related income, with the distinct emphasis of these revenues and 
expenses. 
 
c) Principle of permanence of methods 
 
Valuation methods and accounting policies, in general, should be applied consistently from one financial year to 
another. 
 
Changing accounting policies is permitted only if required by regulations or results in more relevant or more 
reliable information about the Company's operations. 
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3. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (continued) 
 
c) Principle of permanence of methods (continued) 
 
In the event of a change in an accounting policy, the Company shall specify in the notes to the annual financial 

statements the nature of the change in accounting policy and the reasons why the application of the new 
accounting policy provides reliable and more relevant information so that the users of the financial statements 
can assess whether the new accounting policy has been appropriately chosen, the effect of the change on the 
reported results of the period and the actual trend of the results of the activity. 
 
d) Principle of prudence 
 
When preparing the annual financial statements, all assessments must be made on a prudent basis so that: 
 

(i)  only profits realised at the balance sheet date may be included in the income statement; 

(ii)  all liabilities incurred in the current financial year or a previous year must be taken into account, even if 
they become apparent only between the balance sheet date and date of preparing the financial 
statements; 

(iii)  all foreseeable liabilities and potential losses arising in the current financial year or a previous financial 
year must be taken into account, even if they become apparent only between the balance sheet date and 
the date of preparing the financial statements. For this purpose, possible reserves and liabilities resulting 
from contractual clauses are considered; and 

(iv)  all depreciations must be taken into account, whether the result of the financial year is a loss or a profit. 
Booking of adjustments for depreciation or impairment is carried out in the expense accounts, regardless 
of their impact on profit or loss. 

 
As a result, assets and revenues shall not be overstated and liabilities and expenses shall not be understated. 
However, prudence does not allow, for example, excessive provisioning, deliberate understatement of assets or 
income, nor the deliberate overstatement of liabilities or expenses, because the financial statements would not 
be neutral and would not be reliable. 
 

e) Principle of independence 
 
In the preparation of the financial statements, only revenues and expenses regarding the financial year need to 
be taken into account regardless of the receipt or payment date. 
 
f) Principle of separate measurement of assets and liabilities 
 
According to this principle, items of assets and liabilities should be measured separately. 
 
g) Principle of intangibility 
 
The opening balance for each financial year must correspond to the closing balances of the previous financial 

year except as provided for by the applicable legal regulations. 
 
h) Non-compensation principle 
 
Any compensation between assets and liabilities or between items of income and expense is prohibited. All 
receivables and liabilities are recorded separately based on supporting documents. Any compensation between 
receivables and liabilities from/to the same counterparty made in line with the legal requirements can only be 
recorded after accounting for the corresponding revenues and expenses. 
 
In case of exchange of assets, the sale/decommissioning and purchase/registration are presented separately in 
accounting, based on supporting documents, with the booking of all revenues and expenses related to the 
operations. The accounting treatment is similar in the case of mutual provision of services. 

 
i) Principle of prevalence of substance over form 
 
The balance sheet and profit and loss items are presented in the financial statements taking into account the 
substance of the reported transactions or operation and not only their legal form.  
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3. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (continued) 
 
j) Principle of materiality 
 
The value of balance sheet items and profit and loss account which are indicated in lowercase can be combined 

if: 
 

(i)  they do not represent a significant amount; and 

(ii)  such combination offers for greater clarity, provided that these items are presented separately in the 
notes. 

 
 
 

4. ACCOUNTING METHODS AND POLICIES 
 
The significant methods and policies have been applied consistently by the Company. 
 
a) Use of estimates 
 
As a result of the uncertainties inherent in the performance of the activities, some elements of the annual 
financial statements cannot be measured with accuracy, only estimated. The estimation process involves 
judgments based on the latest reliable information available. An estimate may need to be reviewed if changes 
are made to the circumstances on which this estimate was based or as a result of new information or better 
experience. 

 
For those items whose value is uncertain and must be included in the financial statements, the accounting uses 
best estimates. For this purpose, the values of the patrimonial items are reviewed to reflect events subsequent 
to the closing date of the year, changes in circumstances, or the obtaining of new information whenever those 
values are significant. 
 
Events that occur after the balance sheet date and provide additional information on management's estimates 
at the balance sheet date lead to the adjustment of the items to reflect such additional information. 
 
The main estimates used during 2018 and 2019 refer to the useful lives of the fixed assets, as well as the 
expected consumption of future economic benefits embodied in depreciable assets, etc. 
 

When determining the useful life, the Company considers the following: 
 
a) for intangible assets with a determined useful life, other than software: the duration stipulated in the 

procurement contract or, in the absence thereof, the estimated use, as the case may be; 
b) for software: the duration stipulated in the procurement contract or, in the absence thereof, a duration of 

3 years; 
c) for set-up expenses: 5 years; 
d) for investments made in the fixed assets that are subject to a lease, concession and the like: during the 

contractual term or throughout normal use, as the case may be; 
e) for fixed assets stipulated in the Catalogue of November 30, 2004 on the classification and normal 

operating durations of fixed assets, adopted by Law no. 15/1994, republished: for an operating period 

corresponding to the middle of the interval provided in the Catalogue. 
 
The Company applies a straight-line depreciation method over the ordinary useful life of the asset. The 
depreciation method is applied consistently for all assets of the same nature and with identical conditions of 
use. 
 
The depreciation method may be changed only in the cases provided by the legislation in force, with the written 
consent of the Company's General Manager and only when it is determined by an error in estimating the way of 
consumption of the benefits related to the tangible asset. 
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4. ACCOUNTING METHODS AND POLICIES (continued) 
 
b) Measurement of assets, liabilities and equity 
 
In the annual financial statements, assets, liabilities and equity are reflected and measured at carrying amount, 

consistently with the stock count results.  
 
The valuation of tangible and intangible assets, upon stock count, is made at inventory value, determined 
according to the utility of the asset, its condition and the market price. Non-current assets under construction 
are also subject to valuation.  
 
The valuation upon stock count of assets, liabilities and equity is made according to the regulations and the 
norms issued for this purpose by the Ministry of Public Finance. In order to perform the stock-count, the 
Company uses its own procedures, in compliance with the legal provisions.  
 
The carrying amount of an asset is the amount at which it is recognized after deducting the accumulated 
depreciation for depreciable assets and accumulated impairment or loss of value.  

 
For items in the form of assets carried at cost, the negative differences between the inventory value and the 
book value is registered separately in accounting, in correction accounts, these elements being maintained at 
entry value. For items in the form of liabilities, the positive differences between the inventory value and the 
book value are recorded as liability. Equity remains highlighted at accounting values.  
 
Correcting the value of intangible and tangible assets and bringing them to inventory value is made, depending 
on the existing type of impairment, either by recording an additional depreciation/amortisation if an irreversible 
depreciation/amortisation is found, or by creating or supplementing impairment allowances, if a reversible 
impairment thereof is found.  
 
c) Conversion of foreign currency amounts 

 
The assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are translated in RON at the spot exchange rate in 
force at the balance sheet date, except for foreign currency assets that are translated into RON at the exchange 
rate in force at the date of acquisition. 
 
Spot exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date means the foreign exchange rate communicated by the 
National Bank of Romania on the last banking day of the financial year in question. 
 
Non-matured spot operations must be converted at the spot exchange rate in force at the balance sheet date. 
 
Non-matured term FX transactions must be converted at the remaining term exchange rate from the balance 

sheet date. 
 
Differences between the entry (accounting) value of assets and liabilities, spot and term off-balance sheet 
operations and amounts resulting from the conversion of those items will be accounted for to profit or loss. 
 
For receivables and debts, denominated in RON, which are settled according to a foreign currency, any 
favorable or unfavorable differences that result from their valuation are recorded to profit or loss. 
 
The exchange rates of the main foreign currencies on the last day of the financial year were: 
 

Currency 
December 31,  

2018 
December 31,  

2019 

 
Dollar (USD)  1: RON 4.0736 1: RON 4.2608 

Euro (EUR)  1: RON 4.6639 1: RON 4.7793 

Pound (GBP) 1: RON 5.1931 1: RON 5.6088 
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4. ACCOUNTING METHODS AND POLICIES (continued) 
 
d) Interest income and expenses 
 
Interest income and expense is recognized in the income statement on an accrual basis.  

 
Interest income and expense related to financial instruments (mainly represented by loans to customers) are 
recognized in the income statement at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Such income and 
expenses also include the amortised cost according to the effective interest method of any commission that is 
part of the effective interest rate, discount, premium, trading cost or other differences between the initial value 
of the financial instruments and their value at maturity. 
 
The effective interest method is the method used for the computation of amortised cost of a financial asset or 
liability and for allocation of interest income and expenses over the relevant period. The effective interest rate 
is the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial 
instrument (or, when appropriate, a shorter period) to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or 
financial liability and the net value of financial assets and liabilities is given, in case of loans granted and loans 

received, by the amortised cost of such instruments, which is the value at which such instruments are 
measured upon initial recognition (adjusted according to the value of trading costs and related commissions 
that are integral part of the effective interest method) less repayments of principal, more or less the 
accumulated amortisation (by using the effective interest rate) for each difference between the initial value and 
value at the due date, less any impairment write-down. 
 
Commissions that are integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument are a compensation for 
how the financial standing of the borrower and other similar contracts would be assessed, how the clauses of 
the financial instrument would be negotiated, how the documents would be drawn up and processes and the 
transaction would be concluded in case of granting loans. At Company level, such commissions are represented 
by the credit analysis and credit management commissions charged to customers, the holders of the loan 
contracts. Such commissions, together with the related trading costs, are deferred and recognized as an 

adjustment of interest income using the effective interest rate method. The unamortised portion of these 
commissions is reflected as deferred income/prepaid expenses.  
 
Related trading costs are costs directly attributable to lending, which would not have occurred if the Company 
had not granted the loan. Trading costs include fees and commissions paid to dealers, brokers or other third 
parties and do not include financing costs or administrative internal costs. 
 
Such accounting policy also applies to the recording of interest expenses related to financial instruments 
received, such as loans received from shareholders or credit institutions. 
 
e) Income and expenses with commissions 

 
Commission income includes income from services granted to third parties, and commission expenses include 
costs with the services rendered by third parties to the Company. 
 
Income or expenses with commissions are recognised according to their nature. They are classified in three 
categories: 
 

 commissions that are integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instruments, which are 
treated as described above; 

 
 commissions earned as the services are rendered, recognised to profit or loss as the services are rendered 

or throughout the period of the commitment;  

 
 commissions earned upon fulfilment of a main contractual obligation, recognised to profit or loss upon 

performance of the significant consideration. 



CREDIUS IFN SA 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 

(all amounts are expressed in RON, unless otherwise specified) 

18 

4. ACCOUNTING METHODS AND POLICIES (continued) 
 
f) Financial instruments 
 
i) Classification 

 
Loans and receivables are fixed or determinable payment non-derivative financial assets that are not quoted 
on an active market, other than those that the Company intends to sell immediately or in a near future, those 
that the Company, after initial recognition, designates as financial assets held for trading, those that the 
Company, after initial recognition, designates as held for sale or those for which the owner may not 
substantially recover the entire initial investment, other than due to loan impairment. 

 
ii) Recognition 
 
The Company recognizes loans and borrowings at the date they are created. 
 
All non-tradable financial liabilities, loans granted, receivables and financial assets held to maturity are 

recognized at amortised cost. Amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method for loans granted. 
 
All gains and losses arising from changes in the value of financial instruments held for trading and losses from 
changes in the value of available-for-sale financial assets are recognized to profit or loss. 
 
iii) Principles of fair value measurement 
 
Fair value is the amount for which the asset could be willingly exchanged between knowledgeable parties in an 
arm’s length transaction. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments is based on a price quote on an active market at the balance sheet date, 
without deducting trading costs. In the absence of a price quote, the fair value of financial instruments is 

estimated using pricing models of an option or analysis of the updated cash flows. 
 
iv) Derecognition 
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the Company loses control of the contractual rights related to that 
asset. The Company loses such control if it realizes the rights to the benefits specified in the contract, the rights 
expire, or the Company waives such rights. 
 
Financial assets that are sold are derecognised from the settlement date. Financial liabilities are derecognized 
when the obligation specified in the contract is settled, cancelled or expired. 
 

g) Cash and cash equivalents 
 
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid assets, easily 
convertible to known cash, most of which with an initial maturity of less than 90 days, i.e.: cash, current 
account balances with credit institutions such as and term deposits with an initial maturity of less than 90 days. 
 
h) Petty cash 
 
Petty cash includes cash, in RON or convertible currency. Cash in RON has a maturity of less than 90 days. 
 
i) Receivables from credit institutions 
 

Receivables from credit institutions comprise all receivables arising from transactions carried out with credit 
institutions, which comprise mainly the balance of the current accounts opened with banks and bank deposits. 
 
They are registered at nominal value, less impairments for any losses on the impairment of such receivables. 
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4. ACCOUNTING METHODS AND POLICIES (continued) 
 
j) Receivables from customers 
 
Receivables from customers include receivables from customer transactions other than credit institutions.  

 
At the level of the company, customer operations mainly derive from lending operations with individual and 
corporate clients.  
 
The lending operation is the act by which the institution makes available or undertakes to make available to 
customers the requested funds or makes a commitment by signing, in documents such as endorsements, 
security or guarantee in favour of customers.  
 
There are two forms of lending: 
 
a) provision of funds, which is registered in balance sheet accounts; 
 

b) commitment to provide funds and commitments under signature, which are registered in off-balance 
sheet accounts. 

 
Loans to customers are recognized when the cash is available to the customer or when the Company assumes a 
payment obligation on behalf of the customer and are presented in balance sheet at the level of the used 
balance less the specific credit risk provision. 
 
Loans granted to customers are accounted for by category, according to their destination. As at December 31, 
2019, most loans granted by the Company are consumer loans, intended either to cover personal needs or to 
acquire various goods to be used on the long term. 
 
k) Debts to credit institutions and other borrowed funds 

 
Loans received from credit institutions and other borrowed funds are classified as “Debts to credit institutions", 
“Subordinated loans” or “Other liabilities" (depending on the issuer, if it is a credit institution or a shareholder 
and depending on the rank of the debt, i.e. subordinated or unsubordinated). They are contractual 
arrangements to temporarily make available to the Company funds, and result in the Company's obligation to 
periodically deliver cash to meet the contractual obligation (loan repayment). After initial measurement, debts 
to credit institutions and other borrowed funds are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method.  
 
l) Property, plant and equipment 
 

Tangible assets are recorded and subsequently measured on the basis of the acquisition cost or production cost, 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  
 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the asset, estimated for each non-
current asset. The useful lives of the fixed assets used are determined according to the management's 
expectations regarding the way of consumption of the benefits embedded in these assets and according to the 
provisions of Government Decision no. 2139/2004, for the approval of the Catalogue regarding the classification 
and the normal operating durations of fixed assets.  
 
For illustrative purposes, the depreciation of fixed assets by category is as follows: 
 
 Years 

 
Building arrangements 

 
5 years 

 
Vehicles 

 
5 years 

 
Computation technique  

 
3 years 

 
Furniture and office equipment 

 
12 years 
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4. ACCOUNTING METHODS AND POLICIES (continued) 
 
l) Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 
The acquisition cost includes the purchase price, irrecoverable taxes, transportation costs and other expenses 

necessary to put the asset in operation or register. 
 
The maintenance and repair of fixed assets are expensed when they occur and improvements are capitalized if 
they extend the life of the asset or significantly increase its ability to generate economic benefits. Fixed assets 
in progress are not subject to depreciation until they are put into service. 
 
Gains and losses on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by reference to the net book 
value and are taken into account when determining operating profit. 
 
m) Intangible assets 
 
Intangible assets are accounted for at acquisition cost or production cost, less accumulated amortisation and 

impairment losses. 
 
The acquisition cost of goods includes the purchase price, import duties and other non-recoverable taxes, 
transportation, handling and other expenses that can be attributable directly to the acquisition of the goods. 
The production cost of fixed assets includes direct costs related to production, namely: direct materials, energy, 
direct labour and other direct production costs, the cost of designing the products, and the share of indirect 
overheads reasonably allocated to the production thereof. 
 
Intangible assets include various software for internal use and licenses. Subsequent expenses incurred with an 
intangible asset after its purchase or completion are typically recorded in the expense accounts when incurred, 
but may increase the cost of the intangible asset when it is probable that the expense allow the asset to 
generate future economic benefits beyond the performance initially foreseen and can be reliably measured. 

 
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of each item in the 
intangible asset category and is recognized to profit or loss. The estimated useful lives for intangible assets 
varies between 1 to 3 years, depending on the provisions of the acquisition contracts or, as the case may be, 
on the management's expectations of how to consume the benefits embedded in such assets. 
 
n) Impairment allowances 
 
Patrimonial items are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine any objective indication of impairment. 
If any such indication exists, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the patrimonial item, taking 
into account applicable accounting regulations. 

 
n1) Impairment of assets 
 
An impairment allowance is recorded when the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 
The impairment allowance is carried to profit or loss. Items in the balance sheet are presented at net value, 
adjusted for impairment.  
 
The impairment allowance may be reversed if there has been a change in the conditions existing at the time the 
recoverable amount is determined. An impairment allowance may be reversed only in such a way that the net 
asset value does not exceed its historical net book value, taking into account the impairment and without taking 
into account the adjustment. 
 

n2) Impairment of tangible and tangible assets 
 
The adjustment for the write-down of tangible and/or intangible assets is made according to the Company's 
intention to keep the asset for use or non-use in its operations.  
 



CREDIUS IFN SA 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 

(all amounts are expressed in RON, unless otherwise specified) 

21 

4. ACCOUNTING METHODS AND POLICIES (continued) 
 
n) Impairment allowances (continued) 
 
If the Company intends to use the asset in its operations, the impairment of assets is calculated by comparing 

the recoverable amount in use with the net book value. If the Company does not intend to use the asset in its 
operations, the impairment of the asset is calculated by comparing the net realizable value by sale with the net 
book value. 
 
If the reasons that led to the set-up of the impairment have ceased to exist to some extent, then that 
impairment will be reversed to income accordingly. If impairment is higher than the depreciation set up, an 
additional impairment will be made. 
 
As at December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2019, the Company did not find any signs of impairment of 
tangible or intangible assets. 
 
n3) Impairment of receivables from principal and interest arising from customer operations 

 
Receivables from principal and interest are presented in the balance sheet at the level of the existing balance, 
less impairment allowances determined under the applicable legislation. 
 
Allowances for impairment of receivables from customer operations are made periodically as expenses. When 
the impairment allowances are set up and the write-off of the respective receivables, the impairment 
allowances are analysed and settled as follows: 
 
a) in the debit of expense accounts, if the impairment allowances are increased; 
 
b) in the credit of income accounts, when the impairment allowances must be reduced or annulled, 

specifically when they are left partially or entirely without an object; 

 
c) when the risk is realized, the impairment accounts are closed by the income accounts and, at the same 

time, the corresponding losses, according to their nature, are recorded in the related accounts. 
 
The Company applies NBR Regulation no. 5/2012, regarding the classification of credits and the establishment, 
adjustment and use of specific credit risk provisions applicable to entities controlled by the National Bank of 
Romania, other than credit institutions, as subsequently amended and supplemented as legal basis for the 
classification, set up and use of credit risk impairment.  
 
Under this regulation, impairment allowances are determined by multiplying the credit exposures from principal 
and interest and adjusted according to the securities expressed at fair value, with the impairment allowances 

for each credit rating, as set out below: 
 

Rating 

Loan provisioning ratios 
(other than those registered 

in foreign currency or 
indexed at the exchange 

rate of a currency, granted 
to individuals exposed to 

currency risk) 

Provisioning ratios for loans 
accounted for in foreign 

currency or indexed at an 
exchange rate, granted to 

individuals exposed to 
currency risk 

Debt service 

Standard 0 0.07   0 – 15 days 

Watch  0.05 0.08 16 – 30 days 

Sub-standard 0.2 0.23 31 – 60 days 

Doubtful 0.5 0.53 61 – 90 days 

Loss 1 1    Min 91 days 
 
 
The impairment allowance is calculated by applying the above percentages to the credit balance and the 
attached receivable (interest), less the value of the guarantee. 
 
In the balance sheet, the effect of such allowances is included in the “Receivables from customers” and "Prepaid 
expenses and accrued income” items, subsequent to the classification of the principal or the interest item to 
which they refer. 
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4. ACCOUNTING METHODS AND POLICIES (continued) 
 
n) Impairment allowances (continued) 
 
n4) Impairment of other receivables 

 
Receivables from management fees charged to customers are subject to a 100% value adjustment of the 
nominal value if loan contract falls within any of the following situations: 
 

 the client's debt service exceeds 59 calendar days; 

 the loan contract is subject to forced execution, in accordance with the applicable internal procedures. 
 
The costs incurred with starting the foreclosure of loan contracts with customers (including, but not limited to, 

stamp duties, levies with inquiry of information on debtors, receivers’ fees, etc.) are charged to the foreclosed 
customer, aiming at recovering the loans by all means provided by law. Given the uncertainty and the need to 
reflect patrimonial items on a prudential basis, these receivables are also subject to a value adjustment of 
100% of the nominal value. 
 
If such value adjustments become totally or partially redundant (by recovering amounts from debtors, 
assigning the ownership of the loan contract that generated them, etc.), the allowance is appropriately reversed 
to revenues, in accordance with the applicable accounting regulations. 
 
In the balance sheet, the effect of such allowances is included in the “Prepaid expenses and accrued income” 
and "Other assets" lines, depending on the classification of the item to which they relate. 

 
o) Company’s related parties  
 
Company’s related parties are: 
 
 companies that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, control the Company, are 

controlled by it, or are under joint control, together with the Company; 
 companies in which the Company has significant influence, are not subsidiaries or joint ventures; 
 those individuals who directly or indirectly hold a share in the Company's voting rights, which gives them 

significant influence, as well as close family members of any such person; 
 those persons in the Company's management who have the authority and responsibility to plan, direct 

and control the activities of the institution, directly or indirectly, including any officer (executive or 

otherwise) of the institution. In order to establish the persons included in this category, their role and 
responsibilities within the institution must be taken into account, not necessarily the name of the position 
occupied; 

 other companies in which a person described above holds, directly or indirectly, a substantial percentage 
in the voting rights or the companies over which such person may have a significant influence. 

 
Close family members of any of the individuals listed above are those family members who may be expected to 
influence or be influenced by that person in their relationship with the Company and include: 
 
 offspring of such person’s spouse or partner; 
 the offspring of such person’s spouse or partner, and 

 such person’s dependants or the dependants of such person’s spouse or partner. 
 
 

p) Pensions and other post-retirement benefits 
 
The Company, in the normal course of business, makes payments to the Romanian State’s health fund, pension 
fund, unemployment fund on behalf of its employees. The Company also has the legal obligation to contribute 
(through the social security contributions) to the Romanian State’s pension plan (determined contribution plan 
of the State). All of the related contributions are recognised in the profit or loss of the period. The Company 
does not operate any other pension scheme or post-retirement benefit plan, is not engaged in any other post-
retirement benefit plan and, consequently, has no obligation to provide post-retirement services to its former or 
current employees. 
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4. ACCOUNTING METHODS AND POLICIES (continued) 
 
q) Income tax 
 
The Company registers the corporate income tax determined in accordance with the Fiscal Code and the 

accounting and reporting regulations issued by the National Bank of Romania and the Ministry of Public Finance. 
 
The income tax for the year comprises the current tax. 
 
Current tax is the tax payable for the period, determined on the basis of the percentages applied at the balance 
sheet date and of all adjustments relating to previous periods. 
 
The income tax rate used for the calculation of current taxes is 16%, applicable to profit realized on the 
territory of Romania. 
 
The Company recorded accumulated tax profit as at December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2019. 
  

r) Other provisions 
 
The Company also sets up other provisions to cover debts whose nature is clearly defined and which, at the 
balance sheet date, are likely to exist or it is certain that they will exist, but which are uncertain as to the value 
or date at which they will occur. 
 
Such provisions require the exercise of professional judgment and the use of estimates and are set up such that 
they do not exceed in terms of value the amounts required to settle the current obligation at the balance sheet 
date. 
 
Periodically, at the date when provisions are set up and when they become redundant, provisions are reviewed 
and adjusted as follows: 

 
- in the debit of the expense accounts, in case of increase of provisions; 
- in the credit of income accounts when the provisions have to be diminished or cancelled, i.e. when they 

become partially or totally redundant. 
 
Details on the provisions set up by the Company are provided in the explanatory notes. 
 
The Company sets up litigation provisions to cover losses that may be incurred as a result of the lawsuits in 
which it is involved as defendant/liable party when the following conditions are met cumulatively: 
 
 the obligation is generated by a past event; 

 
 it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is required in the future to settle 

such obligation; 
 
 the value of the obligations may be reliably estimated.  
 
 
s) Contingent assets and liabilities 
 
s1) Contingent assets 
 
A contingent asset is a potential asset that arises from past events prior to the balance sheet date, and whose 

existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or several uncertain future events, 
not entirely under the control of the Company. 
 
Contingent assets are not recognised in the financial statements, as they are not certain, and their recognition 
may result in the recognition of income that might never be realised. 
 
Contingent assets are assessed continually to ensure that developments are appropriately reflected in the 
financial statements. When the realisation of income is virtually certain, then the related asset and income is 
recognised in the financial statements in the period when the change occurred. 
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4. ACCOUNTING METHODS AND POLICIES (continued) 
 
s2) Contingent liabilities 
 
A contingent liability is: 

 
a) a potential obligation that arises from past events prior to the balance sheet date, and whose existence 

will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or several uncertain future events, not 
entirely under the control of the entity; or  

 
b) a present obligation that arises from past events, prior to the balance sheet date, but is not recognised 

because: 
 

- it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle this liability; or  

- the amount of the liability cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. 
 

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet, but they are disclosed as off-balance sheet items. 
 
If the Company has a liability assumed jointly with other parties, then the portion assumed by the other parties 
is presented as a contingent liability. 
 
Contingent liabilities are assessed continually to determine whether an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits has become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow of future economic benefits will 
be required for an item previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is recognised in the financial 
statements in the period in which the change in probability occurs, except for the cases when a reliable 
estimate cannot be made and, consequently, no liability will be recognised, but it will be disclosed as a 
contingent liability. 
 

At December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Company does not hold contingent assets and liabilities. 
 
t) Profit or loss for the period 
 
The result of the year, i.e. profit or loss, is determined as the difference between the income and expenses of 
the year. 
 
The allocation of profit is recorded in the accounts by destination after approval of the annual financial 
statements. 
 
The accounting loss carried forward is covered by the profit of the financial year and the profit carried forward, 

from the reserves, the share premiums and the share capital, according to the decision of the general meeting 
of shareholders, in compliance with the legal provisions. In the absence of express legal provisions, the general 
meeting of shareholders or the Board of Directors choses the order of the sources from which the accounting 
loss is covered. The remaining uncovered portion is carried forward in the following years. 
 
u) Subsequent events 
 
Subsequent events are those events, either favorable or unfavorable, which occur between the balance sheet 
date and the date when the financial statements are authorised for issuance. 
 
Subsequent events include all events that take place until the annual financial statements are authorised for 
issuance, even if such events take place after the public disclosure of profit or other selected financial 

information. 
 
Two types of subsequent events may be identified: 
 

a) events that certify the conditions existing at the balance sheet date. Such subsequent events lead 
to the adjustment of the annual financial statements; and 

 
b) events that give indication as to conditions arising after the balance sheet date. Such subsequent 

events do not lead to the adjustment of the annual financial statements. 
 

In the case of subsequent events that lead to the adjustment of the annual financial statements, the Company 

adjusts the values recognised in the financial statements in order to reflect the subsequent events. 
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5. RECEIVABLES FROM CREDIT INSTITUTIONS  
 
 December 31,  

2018 
December 31,  

2019 

 
Current accounts with credit institutions 

2,275,117 3,160,631 

 
Total 

2,275,117 3,160,631 

 
The Company holds only current accounts in “Current accounts with credit institutions”, it does not hold deposits. 
 
Further details are presented as follows: 
 

Name of credit institution Currency Account type 
December 31, 

2018 
December 31, 

2019 

 
Libra Internet Bank RON Current account 1,072 1,931,396 

Libra Internet Bank RON 
Card current 

account 7,560 15,000 

Libra Internet Bank RON 
Salary current 

account 875 15,502 

CEC Bank RON Current account 55,212 215,371 

CEC Bank RON 
Distribution 

account 143,630 151,599 

CEC Bank RON Loan account 69,048 - 

Piraeus Bank RON Current account 128,435 145,978 

Alpha Bank RON Current account 51,875 93,756 

UniCredit Bank RON Current account 6,474 (21) 

UniCredit Bank RON 
Salary current 

account 9,541 17,605 

BCR RON Current account 10,996 56,444 

BCR RON 
Distribution 

account 77,640 239,009 

 
Total accounts in RON   562,358 2,881,639 

 
Libra Internet Bank EUR Current account 1,650,323 12,718 

CEC Bank EUR Current account 50,754 90,092 

 
Total accounts in EUR   1,701,077 102,810 

 
Libra Internet Bank USD Current account 5,175 146,908 

 
Total accounts in USD   5,175 146,908 

 
CEC Bank GBP Current account 6,506 29,274 

 
Total accounts in GBP   6,506 29,274 

 
Total current accounts with 
credit institutions     2,275,117 3,160,631 
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6.  RECEIVABLES FROM CUSTOMERS 
 
Lending operations are carried out both with Romanian individuals and legal entities domiciled in Romania. 
The structure of credit risk concentration within the lending portfolio is as follows: 
 

 December 31, 2018 December 31, 2019 

   

Total loans granted, of which: 48,153,004 71,851,286 

    - personal needs 39,466,434 50,843,168 

    - purchase of goods 5,799,359 13,624,593 

    - other loans granted to legal entity customers 2,887,211 7,383,525 

   

Overdue and doubtful receivables, of which: 518,368 1,414,054 

    - personal needs 471,711 812,768 
    - purchase of goods 
    - other loans granted to legal entity customers 

29,658 
16,999 

215,633 
385,653 

   

Value of portfolio before impairment 48,671,372 73,265,340 

   

Impairment of receivables, of which: (2,614,628)     (6,954,482) 

    - personal needs (2,354,025) (5,240,892) 

    - purchase of goods (114,728) (1,047,769) 

    - other loans granted to legal entity customers (145,875) (665,821) 

   

Receivables against customers (net), of which: 46,056,744 66,310,858 

    - personal needs 37,584,120 46,415,044 

    - purchase of goods 5,714,289 12,792,457 

    - other loans granted to legal entity customers 2,758,335 7,103,537 
 
 
7. CHANGES IN IMPAIRMENT ALLOWANCES 

 

Impairment 
of 

receivables 

2018 2019 

Opening 

balance 
Increases Reductions 

Balance 

as at 

December 

31, 2018 

Opening 

balance 
Increases Reductions 

Balance 

as at 

December 

31, 2019 

0 1 2 3 4=1+2-3 5 6 7 8=5+6-7 

Personal 

needs 
1,830,163 18,104,683 17,580,820 2,354,025 2,354,025 20,544,408 17,657,541 5,240,892 

Goods 29,223         411,731 326,227 114,728 114,728    2,822,479 1,889,438 1,047,769 

Legal entities -         172,556   26,681 145,875 145,875    2,328,688 1,808,742 665,821 

Total 
allowances 

(1) 

1,859,386 18,688,970 17,933,728 2,614,628 2,614,628 25,695,575 21,355,721 6,954,482 

 
Changes in impairment allowances (refer to notes 10 and 11): 
 

 
December 31, 

2018 
December 31, 

2019 

Impairment of sundry debtors (management fee) - - 
Impairment of doubtful customers (enforcement expenses) - - 
Impairment of related receivables and overdue receivables (interest 
and penalty) (782,058) (2,568,206) 
Impairment of income receivable (management fee) (454,023) (561,986) 

Total  (1,236,081) 
 

(3,130,192) 
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7. CHANGES IN IMPAIRMENT ALLOWANCES (continued) 
 
Impairment of debtors, related receivables, income receivable 
 

 

2018 2019 

Opening 
balance 

Increases Reductions 
Balance as at 
December 31, 

2018 

Opening 
balance 

Increases Reductions 
Balance as at 
December 31, 

2019 

0 1 2 3 4=1+2-3 5 6 7 8=5+6-7 

         

Total allowances (2) 749,414 8,369,714 7,883,047 1,236,081 1,236,081 9,501,217 7,607,106 3,130,192 

 
 
Total allowances (impairment of receivables, debtors, related receivables, income receivable) 

 

 

2018 2019 

Opening 
balance 

Increases Reductions 
Balance as at 
December 31, 

2018 

Opening 
balance 

Increases Reductions 
Balance as at 
December 31, 

2019 

0 1 2 3 4=1+2-3 5 6 7 8=5+6-7 

 
Total allowances (1 
+2) 

2,608,800 27,058,684 25,816,775 3,850,709 3,850,709 35,196,792 28,962,827 10,084,674 
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7. CHANGES IN IMPAIRMENT ALLOWANCES (continued) 
 
Assignment of receivables 
 
In 2015, the Company entered into a receivable assignment contract whereby the assignor (Credius) assigned 

to the assignee (Integral Collection SRL) loans classified as more than 90 days overdue. The parties did not 
assign receivables in 2019, the last transaction being registered in October 2018. 
 
To calculate receivables as at the reference date, the Company took into account the early payment clause 
under the loan contracts, the assigned debit consisting of: 
 

- overdue loan instalments (capital, management fee, interest) 
- future instalments (capital, management fee, interest) 
- penalties calculated at the value of the overdue capital. 

 
In December 2018, the Company entered into a second receivable assignment contract with Finopro IFN SA, 
whereby the assignor (Credius) assigned ongoing loans classified as loss, more than 90 days overdue, without 

declaring the early chargeability of future loans instalments. To calculate receivables as at the reference date, 
the assigned debit consisted of: 
 

- overdue loan instalments (capital, management fee, interest) 
- future capital 
- penalties calculated at the value of the overdue capital. 

 
The sale price related to the assignment contract accounted for 20% of the value of the assigned debit. At the 
same time, the Parties have entered into a profit-sharing agreement, which sets out how to share future profits 
resulting from the proceeds of Finopro IFN S.A. by virtue of the assigned loan agreements. According to the 
provisions of the profit-sharing agreement, the cash flows in excess of the assignment price of the loan 
agreements (the amounts collected by Finopro IFN SA over the amounts paid by Finopro IFN SA by virtue of the 

assignment agreement) will be equally shared between the shareholders. The amounts received from the profit 
sharing are recognized at the time of collection due to the uncertainty of the existence of these profits, as the 
portfolio is non-performing at the time of sale. The Company conducted the legal assignment of all loan 
agreements and removed these loans from its balance sheet at the time of the assignment. 
 
In December 2019, the third agreement for the assignment of receivables was concluded with affiliate Business 
Microcredit IFN SA, by which the assignor (Credius) assigned performing loans. Considering the need to 
separate the operations and the strategic reallocation of the capitals at group level, the parties concluded a 
definite series of transactions regarding the sale of the car loan portfolio to Business Microcredit IFN SA. The 
transfer price represented 100% of the book value of the loan agreements, based on the principle of 
equivalence of their origin by Business Microcredit IFN SA and the performance of the assigned loans. The last 

transaction of assignment of the car loan portfolio took place in January 2020 and consumed in full the object of 
the assignment. 
 
A breakdown of the assignments is given below: 
 

2018 

Assignment 
date 

Assigned 
amount 

Assignment 
price 

Counterparty 
Date of collection of 

assignment 

 
30.04.2018 5,193,779 1,038,756 Integral Collection SRL May 2018 

01.05.2018 2,806,281 561,256 Integral Collection SRL June 2018 

07.06.2018 3,351,381 670,276 Integral Collection SRL August 2018 

01.07.2018 3,479,424 695,885 Integral Collection SRL August 2018 

01.08.2018 3,938,349 787,670 Integral Collection SRL September 2018 

25.08.2018 526,004 105,201 Integral Collection SRL September 2018 

01.09.2018 3,695,508 739,102 Integral Collection SRL 
September 2018 (partially RON 
613,480) 

30.09.2018 6,028,601 1,205,720 Integral Collection SRL April 2019 

31.10.2018 3,354,369 670,874 Integral Collection SRL June 2019 

30.12.2018 5,213,220 1,042,643 Finopro IFN SA March 2019 

 
Total 37,586,916 7,517,383   
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7. CHANGES IN IMPAIRMENT ALLOWANCES (continued) 
 

2019 

Assignment 
date 

Assigned amount 
Assignment 

price 
Counterparty 

Date of collection of 
assignment 

 
31.01.2019 

1,744,438 348,888 Finopro IFN S.A June 2019 

01.03.2019 (18,478) (3,696) Integral Collection Srl April 2019 

30.03.2019 1,493,765 298,753 Finopro IFN S.A June 2019 

12.04.2019 26,746 5,349 Finopro IFN S.A June  2019 

30.04.2019 1,373,824 274,765 Finopro IFN S.A August 2019 

30.05.2019 1,923,571 384,714 Finopro IFN S.A August 2019 

29.06.2019 1,944,102 388,820 Finopro IFN S.A September 2019 

30.07.2019 1,535,764 307,153 Finopro IFN S.A September 2019 

30.08.2019 2,005,016 401,003 Finopro IFN S.A October 2019 

29.09.2019 3,624,619 724,924 Finopro IFN S.A November 2019 

30.10.2019 2,685,728 537,146 Finopro IFN S.A November 2019 

29.11.2019 2,437,202 487,440 Finopro IFN S.A December 2019 

30.12.2019 3,045,010 609,002 Finopro IFN S.A Not collected 

13.12.2019        10,828,153 10,828,153 
Business Microcredit IFN 
S.A. 

December 2019 

 
Total 

34,649,460 15,592,414 
  

 
Reconciliation of increases and reductions of allowances with income and expenses: 

 

 2018 2019 

Impairment losses on loans and receivables (66200) 25,152,083 34,234,602 
Impairment losses on transactions with securities and sundry 
operations (66300) 1,903,963 958,616 

Other provisions – other non-deductible provisions (66590) 701,761 777,217 

Losses on receivables covered by impairment (66700) 16,456,154 21,299,185 

Losses on receivables not covered by impairment (66800) 21,188,115 - 

Income from debt recovered (76700)  (7,517,384) - 

 
Total expenses (increase of allowances) 57,884,692 57,269,620 

 
 
 

 
2018 2019 

Income from impairment of loans and receivables (76200) 24,013,793 28,114,745 
Income from impairment of transactions with securities and 
sundry operations (76300) 1,799,444 847,892 

Income from other provisions – non-taxable (76590) 455,902 435,736 

Losses on receivables not covered by impairment (66800) - (13,372,096) 

Income from debt recovered (76700)  - 15,592,415 

   

Total income (reduction of allowances) 26,269,139 31,618,692 

 
If the expenses in accounts 668 (losses on receivables not covered by impairment) are higher than the income 
from 767 accounts (income from debt recovered), then the difference between them is considered as an 
increase of allowance (expense), as it is for 2018. 
 
When income from 767 accounts (income from debt recovered) is higher than the expense in 668 accounts 
(losses on receivables not covered by impairment), then the difference between them is considered as a 
reduction of allowance (income) reduction, as it is for 2019. 
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8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 
The Company records on the asset side of the balance sheet intangible assets consisting of set-up expenses, various software and licenses. The Company also records 
intangible assets in progress, consisting of software (applications) under execution. 
 

Intangible assets are presented in the balance sheet at historical cost, less accumulated amortisation and impairment. Amortization of intangible assets is calculated 
using the straight-line method over a useful life between 1 and 3 years. Set-up expenses are amortized on a straight-line basis for a period of 5 years. Advance 
payments and intangible assets are not subject to amortization. 
 
Details of changes in intangible assets during 2018 and 2019 are presented below: 
 

Asset 

Gross value 

 
Value adjustments (amortisation and impairment 

allowances) 

Opening 
balance  Increases Reductions 

Balance as at 
December 31, 

2018 
Opening 
balance 

Impairment 
during the 

year  

Write-
down or 
reversal  

Balance as at 
December 31, 

2018 

0 1 2 3 4=1+2-3 5 6 7 8=5+6-7 
Set-up expenses 1,029 - - 1,029 961 68 - 1,029 
Other intangible assets 2,903,855 549,557 - 3,453,412 2,245,447 582,812 - 2,828,259 
Advances and intangible 
assets in progress 550,176 443,469 253,251 740,394 - - - - 

 
Total intangible assets   

3,455,060 993,026 253,251 4,194,835 2,246,408 582,880 - 2,829,288 

 

Asset 

Gross value 
Value adjustments (amortisation and impairment 

allowances) 

Opening 

balance  Increases Reductions 

Balance as at 
December 31, 

2018 

Opening 

balance 

Impairment 
during the 

year  

Write-
down or 

reversal  

Balance as at 
December 31, 

2018 

0 1 2 3 4=1+2-3 5 6 7 8=5+6-7 
Set-up expenses 1,029 - - 1,029 1,029 - - 1,029 
Other intangible assets 3,453,412 923,226 - 4,376,638 2,828,259 1,116,810 - 3,945,069 
Advances and intangible 

assets in progress 740,394 509,125 246,490 1,003,029 - - - - 

 
Total intangible assets 

4,194,835 1,432,351 246,490 5,380,696 2,829,288 1,116,810 - 3,946,098 
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8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 
 
In 2018, expenses with the internal development of software (consisting mainly of the salaries of the personnel involved in the development activity, the services of IT 
consultants and producers, the creation and development of websites, the amortisation of equipment and licenses used in the development activity, other direct 
consumption) amounted to RON 443,469, and the intangible assets completed by the end of the financial year amount to RON 253,251. 

 
In 2019, the expenses incurred with the internal development of software amounted to RON 509,125, and the intangible assets completed by the end of the financial 
year amount to RON 246,490. 
 
At the end of 2019, the Company's intangible assets in progress managed by the Company are as follows: 
 

Name of 
intangible asset in 
progress  

Opening 
balance 

2018 
Increases in 

2018 

Amount received 
by December 31, 

2018 

Outstanding 

intangible assets 
in progress as at 

December 31, 
2018 

Increases in 
2019 

Amount received 
by December 31, 

2019 

Outstanding 

intangible assets 
in progress as at 

December 31, 
2019 

 
Modul Raportari 208,051 - - 208,051 - - 208,051 

Modul Call Center 27,562 - - 27,562 4,202 - 31,764 

Modul Post Sales 2 58,568 - - 58,568 10,618 - 69,186 

Modul Vanzari 51,335 - 51,335 - - - - 
Modul Integrare 
ANAF 67,099 2,928 70,027 - - - - 

Modul Netopia 96,575 - 96,575 - - - - 

Modul Creditare PJ 12,917 31,882 - 44,799 229,529 - 274,328 

Modul Credimatic 2 8,532 136,549 - 145,081 8,541 153,622 - 

Modul CRD 19,537 15,777 35,314 - - - - 
Modul Finantare 
Online - 165,689 - 165,689 130,607 - 296,296 

Modul Mintos API - 43,861 - 43,861 2,224 46,085 - 

Modul Integrare 
Posta - 46,783  46,783 - 46,783 - 
Modul Raportare 
BNR - - - - 72,695 - 72,695 

Modul Credimatic 3 - - - - 8,948 - 8,948 

Modul Salut - - - - 41,760 - 41,760 

 
Total 550,176 443,469 253,251 740,394 509,124 246,490 1,003,028 
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9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 
Tangible assets are presented in the balance sheet at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment.  
 
Amortization of intangible assets is calculated using the straight-line method over the useful lives stated in Note 4 “Accounting principles, policies and methods” - Use of 

Estimates.  
 
The Company incurred expenses related to the arrangement of the headquarters in 2013, totalling RON 82,652. These expenses have been capitalized and will be 
amortized on a straight-line basis for a period of 5 years, corresponding to the expiry of the lease contract. The arrangement and customisation of the headquarters to 
the specific business needs of the Company continued in 2014, when the Company registered total expenses in amount of RON 15,842. These expenses have also been 
capitalized and will be amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining lease period. At the end of 2014, the expenses with the arrangement of the office amounted 
to RON 98,494.  
 
During 2018 and 2019, the Company did not incur any expenses with the arrangement of the office, maintaining the same balance of RON 98,494.  
 
The dynamics of outstanding tangible assets at December 31, 2018 is as follows: 
 

Asset 

Gross value 
Value adjustments (amortisation and impairment 

allowances) 

Opening 
balance  Increases Reductions 

Balance as at 
December 31, 

2018 
Opening 
balance 

Impairment 
during the 

year  

Write-
down or 
reversal  

Balance as at 
December 31, 

2018 

0 1 2 3 4=1+2-3 5 6 7 8=5+6-7 
Buildings – development of 
leased buildings 98,494 - - 98,494 85,541 12,953 - 98,494 
Technical equipment and 
machinery 212,499 - - 212,499 79,814 69,593 - 149,407 
Metering, control and 
regulation equipment  396,681 26,946 - 423,627 338,402 35,159 - 373,561 
Vehicles 503,148 27,487 - 530,635 346,975 87,284 - 434,259 
Furniture, office equipment, 

equipment for protection of 
human and material values 
and other tangible assets 328,494 14,957 - 343,451 80,600 32,752 - 113,352 

 

Total tangible assets 1,539,316 63,390 - 1,608,706 931,332 237,741 - 1,169,073 
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9.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 
 
The dynamics of outstanding tangible assets at December 31, 2019 is as follows: 
 

Asset 

Gross value 
Value adjustments (amortisation and impairment 

allowances) 

Opening 
balance  Increases Reductions 

Balance as at 
December 31, 

2019 
Opening 
balance 

Impairment 
during the 

year  

Write-
down or 
reversal  

Balance as at 
December 31, 

2019 

0 1 2 3 4=1+2-3 5 6 7 8=5+6-7 
Buildings – development of 
leased buildings 98,494 - - 98,494 98,494 - - 98,494 
Technical equipment and 
machinery 212,499 2,501 - 215,000 149,407 63,181 - 212,588 
Metering, control and 
regulation equipment  423,627 47,952 - 471,579 373,561 40,497 - 414,058 
Vehicles 530,635 - 530,635 - 434,259 16,829 451,088 - 
Furniture, office equipment, 
equipment for protection of 

human and material values 
and other tangible assets 343,451 48,606 - 392,057 113,352 36,677 - 150,029 

 
Total tangible assets 1,608,706 99,059 530,635 1,177,130 1,169,073 157,184 451,088 875,169 
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10. OTHER ASSETS 
 

 
December 31, 

2018 
December 31, 

2019 

   

Inventories (i) 146,587 144,805 

Other deposits and guarantees (ii) 249,438 283,775 

Advances to employees 13,837  19,670  

Receivables from the State budget and similar 118,688 262,274 

Sundry debtors (iii) 3,821,276 1,311,196 

Impairment of sundry debtors (10,021) (1,072) 

Overdue receivables – management fee  618,282 675,830 

Impairment of management fee  (444,002) (560,914) 

Doubtful clients – operating expenses - 700 

Impairment of doubtful clients – operating expenses - (700) 

Other settlement accounts 1,252 11,251 

 
Total 4,515,337 2,146,815 

 
(i) Inventories outstanding at December 31, 2019 comprise promotional materials in amount of RON 
20,270 (December 31, 2018: RON 15,417), inventory items in amount of RON 123,606 (December 31, 2018: 
RON 123,606), gift vouchers in amount of RON 650 (December 31, 2018: RON 7,130), other inventories in 
amount of RON 279 (December 31, 2018: RON 182). 
 
(ii) Guarantees outstanding at December 31, 2019 according to the lease contracts are in amount of RON 
283,651 (December 31, 2018: RON 249,315) and other guarantees in amount of RON 124 for tokens 
(December 31, 2018: RON 124). 

 

(iii) Sundry debtors outstanding at December 31, 2019 consist of: amounts receivable from ICO partners 
(assignment of receivables) amounting to RON 614,177 (December 31, 2018: RON 3,534,464), amounts 
receivable from Qiwi payment intermediary in amount of RON 43,201 (December 31, 2018: RON 50,572), 
amounts collected from the Netopia payment intermediary in amount of RON 271,921 (December 31, 2018: 
RON 77,416), amounts receivable from Romanian Post payment intermediary amounting to RON 41,397 
(December 31, 2018: RON 0), proceeds from Zebrapay payment intermediary amounting to RON 135,270 
(December 31, 2018: RON 0), supplier advances of RON 119,993 (December 31, 2018: RON 53,033), amounts 
receivable from the management fee of RON 8,645 (December 31, 2018: RON 61,422) and other amounts 
receivable in amount of RON 76,592 (December 31, 2018: RON 44,369). 
 
 
11. PREPAID EXPENSES AND ACCRUED INCOME 

 

 
December 31, 

2018 
December 31, 

2019 

   
Related receivables (current account deposits) 36 2,051 

Prepaid expenses (i) 835,544 1,770,923 
Related receivables (interest, penalties) (ii) 1,422,497 2,467,140 
Overdue receivables (interest, penalties) (iii) 1,302,420 3,709,720 
Impairment of related and overdue receivables (interest and 
penalty) (iv) (782,058) (2,568,206) 
Income receivable (management fee) 399,944 482,817 

 
Total  3,178,383 5,864,445 

 

(i) Prepaid expenses include as at December 31, 2019 sundry expenses in amount of RON 262,154 
(December 31, 2018: RON 182,180) and fees included in the effective interest rate on consumer loans 
(goods, needs, legal entities) amounting to RON 1,508,769 (December 31, 2018: RON 653,364). 
 

(ii) Attached receivables on loans granted to clients at December 31, 2019 include interest and penalties 

under the personal loan agreements worth RON 1,950,170 (December 31, 2018: RON 1,303,577), under 
the loan agreement for financing goods worth RON 313,258 (December 31, 2018: RON 76,361) and 
under the loan agreements concluded with legal entities worth RON 203,775 (December 31, 2018: RON 
42,559). 
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11. PREPAID EXPENSES AND ACCRUED INCOME (continued) 
 

(iii) Overdue receivables on loans granted to clients at December 31, 2019 include interest and penalties 

under the loan agreements with payment delays, for personal loans worth RON 3,152,083 (December 
31, 2018: RON 1,210,983), loans for financing goods worth RON 410,764 (December 31, 2018: RON 
46,994) and loan agreements granted to legal entities worth RON 146,873 (December 31, 2018: RON 
44,443).  

 

(iv) Impairment for attached and overdue receivables include impairment allowances in respect of clients 
with personal loan agreements worth RON 2,100,406 (December 31, 2018: RON 722,037), impairment 
of loan agreements for financing goods worth RON 269,067 (December 31, 2018: RON 39,745) and 
impairment of loan agreements concluded with legal entities worth RON 198,733 (December 31, 2018: 
RON 20,276). 

 
 
 

12. PAYABLES TO CREDIT INSTITUTIONS AND SUBORDINATED LOANS  
 

 
December 31, 

2018 
December 31, 

2019 

 
Term loans received from credit institutions (i) 200,000 4,394,773 
Term subordinated loans (ii) 3,258,880 4,260,800 

 
Total 3,458,880 8,655,573 

 
(i) As at December 31, 2019, the Company recorded payables to credit institutions arising from term loans 

received from Libra Internet Bank SA following the conclusion of the loan agreement in the form of a 
credit line. Term loans include borrowed capital and calculated and capitalized interest. 

 
The loan agreement was concluded on September 20, 2019 in a maximum amount of RON 5,000,000, 
has a variable interest rate of 5.64% + 3M ROBOR, and its due date is August 30, 2021. As at December 
31, 2019, the loan balance is RON 4,394,773 with a total accrued annual interest of RON 79,863, the 
credit limit being used. 

 
As at December 31, 2019, the financial covenants were not breached according to the financing credit 
institution, namely a minimum monthly turnover of RON 5,000,000 through the bank, an obligation 
whose compliance the bank checks monthly. 
 
During 2019, the Company fully repaid the term loan received from CEC Bank. 
 
On December 31, 2018, the Company recorded payables to credit institutions arising from term loans 
received from CEC Bank, amounting to RON 200,000. Term loans include borrowed capital and calculated 
and capitalized interest. 

 
(ii) On October 26, 2015, the Company entered into a subordinated loan agreement with main shareholder 

Lapworth Holdings Limited. The lender grants the borrower the means to finance and develop the core 
business, which undertakes to use it for this purpose and to repay the borrowed amount and the interest 
according to the agreed terms. The loan is available in the form of a loan line that will not exceed the 
limit of USD 1,500,000. The due date for repayment of the total loan is December 31, 2019. 

 
The nominal interest rate applied to the loan was 4% per year considering 365 days’ year. At the end of 
2018, the total outstanding loan is USD 800,000 (equivalent of RON 3,258,880), with an accumulated 
annual interest of USD 32,328 (equivalent of RON 131,691). The outstanding available credit facility 
(available unused) at December 31, 2018 is USD 700,000 (equivalent of RON 2,851,520). 
The loan was repaid in full at December 19, 2019. 

 

On September 25, 2019, the Company entered into a subordinated loan agreement with Broadhurst 
Investments Limited, a group company. The loan is made available in the form of a credit line of 
maximum USD 2,000,000. The due date for the entire loan is September 30, 2026. The nominal interest 
rate applied to the loan is 12% per year considering a 365 days’ year. At the end of 2019, the total 
outstanding loan is USD 1,000,000 (equivalent of RON 4,260,800), with a total accrued annual interest 
of USD 32,219 (equivalent of RON 139,092). The available balance of the credit facility (balance unused) 
as at December 31, 2019 is USD 1,000,000 (equivalent of RON 4,260,800). 
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13. PAYABLES TO CUSTOMERS 
 

 December 31,  
December 

31,  
 2018 2019 

 
Other payables (advances from customers) 1,641,966 2,049,157 
Term loans from financial institutions (i) 7,447,070 15,837,548 
Amounts payable from customers to Finopro - 169,436 
Amounts payable from customers to Business Microcredit IFN SA - 12,889 
Amounts payable from customers to Integral Collection 158,362 8,653 

 
Total 9,247,398 18,077,683 

 
(*) In September 2018, the Company signed a loan agreement with SIA Mintos Finance, the external financing 
entity. The lender grants the borrower the monetary means to finance and develop the core business, which 

undertakes to use it for this purpose and to repay the borrowed amount and the interest according to the 
agreed terms. The loan is provided in the form of a credit line that will not exceed the limit of EUR 2,500,000 
(at the end of 2018). At the end of 2019, the credit line was increased to EUR 7,000,000. The due date for 
repayment of the total loan is October 1, 2023. The nominal interest rate on the loan in 2019 was 9.5% per 
year, considering a 360 days’ year. 
 
At the end of 2018, the total outstanding amount is EUR 1,596,747 (equivalent of RON 7,447,070), at an 
accumulated annual interest of EUR 50,705 (equivalent of EUR 236,481). The available balance of the credit 
facility (available unused) as at December 31, 2018 is EUR 903,253 (equivalent of RON 4,212,680). 
 
At the end of 2019, the total outstanding loan is EUR 3,313,780 (equivalent of RON 15,837,548) at a total 
annual accrued interest rate of EUR 413,422 (equivalent of RON 1,966,821). The outstanding credit facility (not 

used) at December 31, 2019 is EUR 3,686,220 (equivalent of RON 17,617,552). 
 
At December 31, 2019, the financial covenants were not breached under the contract with the external 
financing entity SIA Mintos Finance: 
 
- Equity/assets ratio not less than 25%; 

 
- Interest coverage ratio not less than 3%; 
 
- Cash buffer and counterparty minimum 5% of the total outstanding principal; 
 

- Major level of non-performing loans (DPD> 60) less than 25% of all overdue loans granted by Credius 
(Partner) during the harvest (each period of 3 months) as of 1 October within 5 months from loan 
origination; 

 
- All ratios are measured at the end of each calendar quarter; 

 
- The partner (Credius IFN SA) may declare or pay dividends without the prior approval of Mintos, without 

breaching the contractual terms. 
 
 
 
 

14. OTHER PAYABLES 
 

 
December 31, 

2018 
December 31, 

2019 

 
Sundry creditors (i) 1,382,987 902,032 

Employee-related payables 380,515 399,670 
Payables to State budget and similar (ii) 1,486,664 1,683,178 
Other payables 36,184 45,265 

 
Total 3,286,350 3,030,145 
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14. OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 
 

(i) Sundry creditors comprise payables to domestic suppliers for the Company’s own consumption in 
amount of RON 202,075 (December 31, 2018: RON 1,250,610), payables to external suppliers for the 
Company’s own consumption in amount of RON 0 (December 31, 2018: RON 3,809), payables to 

suppliers of loans contracts in amount of RON 684,736 (December 31, 2018: RON 126,839), an advance 
related to the allowance of the CEO employed under a mandate contract, in amount of RON 12,821 
(December 31, 2018: RON 1,000) and directors’ allowance in amount of RON 2,400 (December 31, 
2018: RON 2,730). 

 
(ii) Payables to the State budget include corporate tax in amount of RON 1,227,194 (December 31, 2018: 

RON 1,052,715) and contributions due, other taxes, levies and similar payments in amount of RON 
455,984 (December 31, 2018: RON 433,949). 
 
 

15. DEFERRED INCOME AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 
 

 
December 31, 

2018 
December 31, 

2019 

 
Deferred income (1) 3,314,063 5,104,386 

Expenses to be paid (2) 375,045 480,207 

Debt related to loans 160,039 308,305 

 
Total 3,849,147 5,892,898 

   

 

 
December 31, 

2018 
December 31, 

2019 

 
Deferred income – management fee 376,756 295,571 

Deferred income – fee for analysis of loan file  2,937,307 4,763,621 

Deferred income – fee for discount to goods loans - 45,193 

   

Total deferred income (1) 3,314,063 5,104,385 

 

 
December 31, 

2018 
December 31, 

2019 

 
Prepaid expenses  - suppliers 273,788 316,069 
Prepaid expenses  - fees and gift tickets suppliers and brokers 101,257 164,139 

   
Total expenses payable (2) 375,045 480,208 

 
 
16. PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES 
 
At December 31, 2019 the Company registered provisions for risks and charges in amount of RON 1,247,860 
(December 31, 2018: RON 906,319). 
 

Name of provision 
Balance at the 

end of 2018 

Transfers 

Balance at the 
end of 2019 

to 
account 
in 2019 

from 
account in 

2019 

Provision for untaken leaves in 2016 (a) 4,741 - 4,741 - 
Provision for untaken leaves in 2017 (a) 22,908 - 22,908 - 
Provision for untaken leaves in 2018 (a) 243,933 - 233,841 10,092 
Provision for untaken leaves in 2019 (a) - 251,832 - 251,832 
Provision for awards granted (b) 13,540 5,000 5,761 12,779 
Provision for litigations and frauds (c) 621,197 520,445 168,485 973,157 

 
Total  906,319 777,277 435,736 1,247,860 
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16. PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES (continued) 
 

a. Provision for untaken leaves 
 

Under the applicable legal regulations, the employer is obliged to grant the unpaid leave within 18 months 

starting with the calendar year following that in which the right to leave was born, for the payment of salaries 
and related obligations. 
 
At the end of 2018, the Company set up a provision yielding to RON 271,582 for: 
 

- 2016 in amount of RON 4,741 
- 2017 in amount of RON 22,908 
- 2018 in amount of RON 243,933.  

 
At the end of 2019, the Company set up a provision yielding to RON 261,924 for: 
 

- 2018 in amount of RON 10,092 

- 2019 in amount of RON 251,832 
 

b. Provision for awards granted 
 
Every December, starting December 2014, the Company carries out a series of customer incentive and loyalty 
activities, including a contest for Credius customers, whose winners, established by lot, but subject to a process 
of monthly validation and reconfirmation, received the following awards: 
 

i. “Double the pension”, whereby the organizer offered the winner RON 600, payable once in the 

following month; 
 

ii. “1-year pension”, whereby the organizer offered the winner RON 100, payable starting the 
following month, over the course of 1 year; 

 

iii. “Lifetime pension”, whereby the organizer offered the winner RON 50, payable starting the 
following month, throughout the life of the winner. 
 

In December 2018, the Company organized a new "Refer a Customer" competition, the organizer offering the 
winner the amount of RON 100 per valid recommended contract, but not more than RON 600, payable the 
following year.  
 
According to the Competition Regulations, made known to the general public, the Company has the right to 
decide at any time to terminate the award of prizes, as well as expressly, if for any reason it is in insolvency, in 
incapacity to make payments or in the situation of being deregistered from the Ilfov Trade Registry.  
 
After initial designation and validation, winners may lose the prize if they refuse to participate in the 
promotional campaigns of the Organiser related to such competition and if they register delays in the payment 
of the monthly instalments. 

 
At December 31, 2019 the outstanding provisions for awards granted amounts to RON 12,779 (December 31, 
2018: RON 13,540). 
 
c. Provisions for litigations and frauds 
 
At December 31, 2019, the Company has provisions for litigation, arising from the contractual relations 
between the Company (as a professional according to the NBR) and clients amounting to RON 973,157 
(December 31, 2018: RON 621,197). 
 
At December 31, 2019 the Company is involved in 61 litigations as defendant (December 31, 2018: 47 
disputes) for which it constituted a provision of RON 381,190 (December 31, 2018: 659,795). 

 
At December 31, 2019 the Company constituted a provision of RON 489,907 for 17 suspected external frauds 
(December 31, 2018: RON 361,391, for 12 frauds), representing 13 notifications and 14 complaints from 
customers. 
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17. SHARE CAPITAL SUBSCRIBED AND PAID IN 
 
At December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 the number and value of the shares subscribed and paid in is as 
follows: 
 

Shareholder 

Country 
of 

origin 

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2019 

Number of 
shares 

held  

Value of 
shares in 

RON 

Share in 
share 

capital 

Number of 
shares 

held  

Value of 
shares in 

RON 

Share in 
share 

capital 

Lapworth 
Holdings Limited Cyprus 35,892,936 35,892,936 99.989% 35,892,936 35,892,936 99.989% 
OCNICS Express 
Leasing & 
Microcredit SRL  

Republic 
of  
Moldova 3,918 3,918 0.011% 3,918 3,918 0.011% 

 

Total   35,896,854 35,896,854 100.00% 35,896,854 35,896,854 100.00% 

 
In 2018 and 2019, there were no changes in the shareholding, or increases/reductions of share capital.  
 
At December 31, 2019 the fully subscribed and paid in share capital, in cash, is in amount of RON 35,896,854 
and consists of 35,896,854, each at nominal value of RON 1, having the structure presented above. 

 
 
18. ALLOCATION OF PROFIT OR COVERAGE OF LOSS 
 

 
December 31, 

2019 

  
Accounting loss – 2013 (2,527,258) 
Accounting loss – 2014 (8,125,387) 
Accounting loss – 2015 (2,427,165) 
Accounting profit – 2016 3,882,119 
Accounting profit – 2017 8,082,004 
Accounting profit – 2018 1,471,459 
Accounting profit – 2019 5,235,157 
Cumulated legal reserve (1,245,101) 

 
Total (4,345,828) 

 
The accounting losses for 2013 - 2015 are covered from the profits of the following years, according to the 
decision of the General Meeting of Shareholders, in compliance with the legal provisions. 
 
For the period 2013 - 2015, the Company registered loss as result of each year-end. Starting 2016, the 
Company registered profit at each year-end. 
 
The accounting result (profit) for the year ended December 31, 2019 is fully reinvested. 
 
 

19. INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND SIMILAR INCOME 
 

 
  

2018 2019 

   

Interest from customer loans (i) 59,861,071 57,494,894 

Interest from current accounts with credit institutions  362 104 

Interest from term deposits - 3,002 

 
Total 59,861,433 57,498,000 

   
 
(i) Interest from customer loans includes interest calculated as effective interest rate in respect of 
personal loans in amount of RON 48,059,622 (2018: RON 57,942,541), interest on loans for goods in amount 
of RON 6,125,138 (2018: RON 1,310,666) and interest on loans granted to legal entities in amount of RON 
3,310,134 (2018: RON 607,864).  



CREDIUS IFN SA 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 

(all amounts are expressed in RON) 

40 

19.  INTEREST RECEVIABLE AND SIMILAR INCOME (continued) 
 
In addition, interest from customer loans consists of the following: 
 

 2018 2019 

   

Interest 28,062,660 46,810,716 

Management fee 11,117,298 6,058,031 

Fee for analysis of loan file 4,076,376 5,192,869 
Income from assignment of future elements (interest and 
management fee) 16,055,693 - 

Trading costs  (712,965) (1,372,654) 

Penalties 1,262,009 805,932 

 
Total  59,861,071 57,494,894 

 
 
In 2019, the Company did no longer register income from assignment of future items because the assignment 
agreements from the current year did not include a chargeability clause, hence the RON 16,055,693 difference. 
 
 

 
20. INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR EXPENSES 
 

 2018 2019 

   

Interest on term subordinated loans 127,643 269,662 

Interest on term loans 247,109 2,142,251 

 
Total 374,752  2,411,913 

 
 
21. FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME AND EXPENSES 
 

 2018 2019 

 
Fee and commission income  9,574 94,741 

Fee and commission expenses, of which: 2,839,714 3,162,174 

    - bank charges 211,825 80,965 

- reduction of early repayment  301,480 255,369 

    - financial services 2,326,409 2,825,840 
 
Fee and commission income arises from compensations for early repayments in the lending activity, and fee 
and commission expenses include bank charges related to current account operations carried out through credit 
institutions, commissions related to various financial services related to the lending activity (obtaining 
information on the solvency or financial position of clients and their employers, payment processing services, 

portfolio service - debt recovery) and commissions for early repayment reductions. 
 
 
22. INCOME AND EXPENSES WITH FINANCIAL OPERATIONS (NET PROFIT / LOSS ON FINANCIAL 

OPERATIONS) 
 

 2018 2019 

   
Income from FX differences in FX transactions 231,651 709,123 
Expenses with FX differences in FX transactions 404,527 1,145,746 

   
Net loss on financial operations (172,876) (436,623) 
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23. OTHER OPERATING INCOME 
 
 2018 2019 

   
Income from development of software (i) 260,816 506,318 
Income from compensations, fines and penalties 18,669 75,127 
Net positive result (income) from disposal and scrapping of 
non-current assets - 172,950 
Other sundry operating income (ii) 13,548 321,839 

     
 
Total 293,033 1,076,234 

 
(i) The Company registers income from the development of software because it capitalises costs with 

salaries, amortisation and electricity used in the development of assets produced internally by the 

Company. Further details are presented in Notes 8 (Intangible assets) and 9 (Property, plant and 
equipment). 

(ii) Other operating income include the profit sharing of Finopro in amount of RON 276,361 (2018: RON 0), 
intermediation services in loan agreements in amount of RON 28,815 (2018: RON 0) and other income in 
amount of RON 16,663 (2018: RON 13,548). 

 
 
24. GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
 

 2018 2019 

   

Salaries 8,647,703 8,714,358 

Social security 429,858 525,582 

Materials, fuel and other inventories 465,431 373,019 

Protocol and advertising 4,026,528 3,334,440 

Post and telecommunication taxes  767,964 572,416 

Audit and consultancy* 105,250 109,082 

Other employee-related expenses – gift and meal tickets 222,761 239,477 

Other administrative expenses 1,255,729 988,771 

 
Total 15,921,224 14,857,145 

 
*The audit of the statutory financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 was conducted by 
Deloitte Audit SRL, according to the audit contract concluded between the parties. Expenses registered in 2019 
with the services provided by Deloitte Audit SRL (audit of statutory and IFRS financial statements) were in 
amount of EUR 22,523, the equivalent of RON 107,646 (2018: EUR 20,587, the equivalent of RON 96,016). The 
amounts are exclusive of VAT.  
 

Deloitte Audit SRL did not offer other consultancy services than those mentioned above. 
 
 
 
25. INFORMATION ON EMPLOYEES AND MEMBERS OF THE ADMINISTRATION, MANAGEMENT AND 

SUPERVISORY BOARDS 
 
Employee-related expenses 
 

 2018 2019 

   

Expenses with remunerations (i) 8,647,703 8,714,358 

Expenses with social insurance and security (ii), of which: 429,858 525,582 

- Pension-related expenses 21,009 71,847 

Meal vouchers 222,761 217,577 

Gift vouchers 20,550 21,900 

 
Total 9,320,872 9,479,417 
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25. INFORMATION ON EMPLOYEES AND MEMBERS OF THE ADMINISTRATION, MANAGEMENT AND 
SUPERVISORY BOARDS (continued) 

 
(i) The salaries of management in 2019 totalled RON 2,239,248 (2018: RON 2,385,521).  

 

In 2019, the Company’s management was represented as follows: 
 

- Andrei Buzgan, CEO 
- Adrian Golomoz, CFO 
- Simona Ghinea, CRO 

 
In 2018 and 2019, the Company did not grant loans to officers or directors.  
 
The Company does not operate any other pension plan than the scheme of the Romanian State, does not grant 
retirement allowances and does not have any other pension-related obligations. More than that, the Company is 
not obligated to offer additional port-retirement benefits to its employees. 
 

(ii) According to GEO 79/2017, as of January 1, 2018, the social contributions paid by employers are 
transferred to the employees. The employer’s labour contribution remains 2.25%. 

 
 2018 2019 

 
Number of employees at the end of the year  165 169 

Average number of employees 140 146 
   
Number of employees at the end of the year, of which: 165 169 

    - Number of front office employees 94 94 
    - Number of back office employees 71 75 
   

Average number of employees, of which: 140 146 

- management 18 20 
- operational 122 123 

 
 

 
 
 
26. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 
 
 2018 2019 

 
Expenses with other taxes and levies  8,168 6,914 
Rent expenses 1,996,346 1,972,022 
Expenses with indemnities and penalties  178,252 21,580 
Other sundry operating expenses  51,517 12,219 
Net negative result (expenses) from assignment and 
scrapping of non-current assets - - 

     
 
Total 2,204,283 2,012,735 
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27. RECONCILIATION OF ACCOUNTING RESULT AND TAX RESULT 
 

 
 

2018 
 

2019 

   
Net profit 1,782,210 5,235,157 
Non-taxable income (-) (2,247,566) (1,272,359) 
Non-deductible expenses (+) 28,481,133 18,656,150 

   

Tax profit (+)  28,015,777 22,618,948 

   
Tax loss (-) for 2013 (2,487,693) (2,487,693) 
Retained earnings from correction of errors for 2013 (480) (480) 
Tax loss (-) for 2014 (7,771,866) (7,771,866) 
Retained earnings from correction of errors for 2014 (720) (720) 

Tax profit for 2015 1,354,226 1,354,226 
Retained earnings from correction of errors for 2015 (853) (853) 
Tax profit for 2016 6,822,110 6,822,110 
Tax profit for 2017 11,008,123 11,008,123 
Retained earnings from correction of errors for 2017 (140,669) (140,669) 
Tax profit for 2018 28,015,777 28,015,777 
Tax profit for 2019 - 22,618,948 

 
Total tax profit (total years) 36,797,955 59,416,903 

 
 

 
December 31,  

2018 
December 31,  

2019 

Legal reserve (805,905) 
               

(1,245,101)  

Income tax base after set-up of legal reserve 35,992,050 
              

58,171,802 
 
Accumulated income tax (16%) after set-up of legal reserve 5,758,728 

             
9,307,488 

 
Annual income tax 4,432,804 3,548,760 

 
Break-down of non-taxable income: 
 
 2018 2019 

Income from indemnities, fines and penalties  - 57,125 
Income from other provisions (competition, disputes, untaken leaves) 455,902 435,736 

Sundry operating income - 5 
Income from impairment of receivables  1,791,664 779,493 

 
Total 2,247,566 1,272,359 

 
Break-down of non-deductible expenses: 
 

 2018 2019 

   

Expenses with non-deductible provisions and impairment 1,854,926 811,831 

Expenses with non-deductible fines and penalties 174,603 20,981 

Expenses with non-deductible sponsorship/donations 28,054 5,000 

Expenses with motor road vehicles subject to tax limitations  26,167 76,143 

Losses on receivables not covered by impairment 21,188,115 13,372,096 
Expenses with other provisions (competition, disputes, untaken 
leaves) 701,761 777,217 

Other non-deductible expenses 74,703 44,123 

Expenses with income tax 4,432,804 3,548,760 

   

Total 28,481,133 18,656,151 
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28. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Board of Administration has a general responsibility for establishing and monitoring the overall risk 
management framework. 
 

The structure subordinated to the board is the Risk Management Committee, which has a consultative role in 
setting the strategy and objectives for each type of significant risk as well as in supervising and optimizing the 
underlying processes and associated regulations and procedures. 
 
The Company also has internal structures specialized in identifying, managing and monitoring all types of risks. 
 
The main risks associated with the Company's activities are financial and operational, resulting from the 
development of lending activities. 
 
The most important financial risks to which the Company is exposed are credit risk, currency risk, liquidity risk, 
taxation risk, operational risk, reputational risk. 
 

a) Credit risk 
 

The Company is exposed to credit risk, i.e. the risk of loss or non-realization of estimated profits, as a result of 
the counterparty's non-fulfilment of the contractual obligations. 

The source for credit risk is the portfolio of customer loans. 
 
At December 31, 2018, the Company registered the following credit risk provisions for loans granted to 
individual borrowers, other than loans to borrowers subject to foreign exchange risk: 
 

Rating 
Gross exposure on: 

Credit risk specific 
provisions for: 

Number 
of 

contracts 

Share in 
total 

contracts Principal Interest Principal Interest 

Standard 0-15 days 38,446,535 1,196,300 - - 11.461 85% 

Watch 
16-30 
days 1,139,051 119,052 56,259 5,939 301 2% 

Sub-standard 
31-60 
days 3,118,593 402,013 615,619 80,036 951 7% 

Doubtful 
61-90 
days 2,221,272 459,093 1,091,539 228,219 605 5% 

Loss 

Minimum 
91 days 

/litigation 676,051 441,322 676,051 441,322 201 1% 

Total 46,601,501 2,617,780 2,439,468 755,516 13,519 100% 

 
 
At December 31, 2018 the Company registered the following credit risk provisions for loans to legal entity debtors 
expressed in RON: 
 

Rating 
Gross exposure on: 

Credit risk specific 
provisions for: 

Number 
of 

contracts 

Share in 
total 

contracts Principal Interest Principal Interest 

Standard 0-15 days 2,503,923 45,421 - - 62 79% 

Watch 16-30 days 124,562 8,895 6,228 445 4 5% 

Sub-standard 31-60 days 132,992 11,835 26,596 2,367 3 4% 

Doubtful 61-90 days 59,368 6,776 29,684 3,388 5 7% 

Loss 

Minimum 91 
days 
/litigation 83,364 14,076 83,364 14,076 4 5% 

Total 2,904,209 87,003 145,875 20,276 78 100% 

 
 
 
 
 



CREDIUS IFN SA 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 

(all amounts are expressed in RON) 

45 

28. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 
a) Credit risk (continued) 
 
At December 31, 2019, the Company registered the following credit risk provisions for loans granted to 

individual borrowers, other than loans to borrowers subject to foreign exchange risk: 
 

Rating 
Gross exposure on: 

Credit risk specific 
provisions for: 

Number 
of 

contracts 

Share in 
total 

contracts Principal Interest Principal Interest 

Standard 
0-15 
days 51,511,751 2,163,506 - - 16.524 81% 

Watch 
16-30 
days 1,975,564 237,825 97,847 11,861 544 3% 

Sub-standard 
31-60 
days 5,013,106 811,992 966,407 160,788 1.354 7% 

Doubtful 
61-90 
days 3,384,258 824,165 1,648,166 409,562 909 4% 

Loss 

Minimum 

91 days 
/litigation 3,569,547 1,786,080 3,569,547 1,786,080 1.021 5% 

Total 65,454,226 5,823,568 6,281,967 2,368,291 20,352 100% 

 
 
At December 31, 2019, the Company registered the following credit risk provisions for loans to legal entity debtors 
expressed in RON: 
 

Rating 
Gross exposure on: 

Credit risk specific 
provisions for: 

Number 

of 
contracts 

Share in 

total 
contracts Principal Interest Principal Interest 

Standard 0-15 days 6,228,432 85,095 - - 138 75% 

Watch 16-30 days 446,273 17,538 15,288 696 11 6% 

Sub-standard 31-60 days 323,294 27,367 55,665 5,053 14 7% 

Doubtful 61-90 days 315,950 33,932 139,638 15,797 11 6% 

Loss 

Minimum 91 
days 
/litigation 455,230 177,186 455,230 177,186 11 6% 

Total 7,769,179 341,118 665,821 198,732 185 100% 

 
 
b) Currency risk 
 
At December 31, 2018 the Company registered the following credit risk provisions for loans granted to individual 
debtors, exposed to currency risk: 
 

Rating 
Gross exposure on: 

Credit risk specific 
provisions for: 

Number 

of 
contracts 

Share in 

total 
contracts Principal Interest Principal Interest 

Standard 0-15 days 104,601 4,997 7,322 350 9 75% 

Watch 16-30 days - - - - - - 

Sub-standard 31-60 days 34,711 5,992 7,983 1,378 2 16% 

Doubtful 61-90 days 26,378 8,563 13,980 4,538 1 9% 

Loss  

Minimum 91 
days 

/litigation  - - - - - - 

Total 165,689 19,552 29,286 6,266 12 100% 
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28. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 
b) Currency risk (continued) 
 
At December 31, 2019 the Company registered the following credit risk provisions for loans granted to individual 

debtors, exposed to currency risk: 
 

Rating 
Gross exposure on: 

Credit risk specific 
provisions for: 

Number 
of 

contracts 

Share in 
total 

contracts Principal Interest Principal Interest 

Standard 0-15 days 33,765 475 2,364 33 2 67% 

Watch 16-30 days - - - - - - 

Sub-standard 31-60 days - - - - - - 

Doubtful 61-90 days 8,171 2,170 4,330 1,150 1 33% 

Loss  

Minimum 91 

days 
/litigation  - - - - - - 

Total 41,936 2,645 6,694 1,183 3 100% 

 
The credit risk management function analyses the loan portfolios and individual exposures and defines the 
policies and processes to identify and control credit risk. 
 
The following general rules apply in credit risk management: 

 

 Loans are analysed and granted to individuals on the basis of a well-planned process, observing the 
principles of segregation of functions and four-eye control; 
 

 The Company considers the following aspects in substantiating the decision to approve or reject the loan 
application: the specific nature of the loan, the contractual terms related to the loan, the profile of the 
exposure, the probability of non-fulfilment of the established contractual obligations, all the above 
elements being processed on the basis of an internal system of scoring; 
 

 Decisions on the approval of loan applications are taken in accordance with a decision-making hierarchy. 
In exercising the authority to approve exposures to credit risk, independence from the sales function is 
ensured; 
 

 The due date of the loans is carefully monitored, and the amounts due after expiry of the term are 
promptly followed. The Company continuously monitors customers’ debt service and makes, uses and 
settles specific credit risk provisions on a monthly basis; 
 

 Receivables are followed up internally by the collection department, as well as externally through the 
collaboration with Integral Collection SRL, a company specialized in direct negotiation, analysis, phone-
collection, notification and direct conciliation with debtors and guarantors thereof, as well as monitoring 
the fulfilment of payment obligations by such debtors, in accordance with the assumed payment 
commitments; 
 

 For those non-performing loans for which the collection department’s procedures were not successful, 

until 2015, the legal and forced execution department carried out specific actions. Subsequently, the 
Company waived the forced execution process and the non-performing receivables were assigned to 
Integral Collection SRL (company specialised in debt recovery services) or Finopro IFN SA (starting since 
December 2018). 

 
The Company is exposed to currency risk as a result of fluctuations in the RON – USD, RON – EUR and RON – 
GBP exchange rates, given the open currency positions on such currencies.  
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28. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 
b)  Currency risk (continued) 
 
The presentation below reveals the size of such positions, expressed in RON equivalent at December 31, 2018: 

 

Element 

December 31, 2018 

LEI EUR USD GBP Total 

 
Petty cash and other cash (010) 7,417 61 3,991 - 11,469 
Receivables from credit institutions (030) 562,358 1,701,077 5,175 6,507 2,275,117 
Receivables from customers (040) 45,920,340 82,850  53,554 46,056,744 
Investments (070) 1,169 - - - 1,169 
Intangible assets (090) 1,365,547 - - - 1,365,547 
Property, plant and equipment (100) 439,633 - - - 439,633 
Other assets (120) 4,509,413 5,023 387 513 4,515,336 
Prepaid expenses and accrued income (130) 3,145,071 18,116 235 14,961 3,178,383 

 
Total assets 55,950,948 1,807,127 9,788 75,535 57,843,398 

 
Liabilities to credit institutions (300) 200,000 - - - 200,000 

Liabilities to customers (310) 1,798,979 7,447,138 - 1,281 9,247,398 
Other liabilities (330) 3,282,129 4,206 - 15 3,286,350 
Deferred income and accrued liabilities (340) 3,665,925 147,087 32,857 3,278 3,849,147 
Provisions (350) 906,319 - - - 906,319 
Subordinated debt (360) - - 3,258,880 - 3,258,880 

 
Total liabilities 9,853,352 7,598,431 3,291,737 4,574 20,748,094 

 
Net currency position (assets – liabilities) 46,097,596 (5,791,304) (3,281,949) 70,961 37,095,304 
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28. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 
b)  Currency risk (continued) 
 
 

The presentation below reveals the size of such positions, expressed in RON equivalent at December 31, 2019: 
 

Element 

December 31, 2019 

LEI EUR USD GBP Total 

 
Petty cash and other cash (010) 8,001 62 4,174 - 12,237 
Receivables from credit institutions (030) 2,881,639 102,810 146,908 29,274 3,160,631 
Receivables from customers (040) 66,275,616 35,242 - - 66,310,858 
Investments (070) 3,075 - - - 3,075 
Intangible assets (090) 1,434,598 - - - 1,434,598 
Property, plant and equipment (100) 301,961 - - - 301,961 
Other assets (120) 2,141,472 4,471 405 467 2,146,816 

Prepaid expenses and accrued income (130) 5,838,154 23,999 2,292 - 5,864,445 

 
Total assets 78,884,516 166,584 153,779 29,741 79,234,620 

 

Liabilities to credit institutions (300) 4,394,773 - - - 4,394,773 
Liabilities to customers (310) 2,233,756 15,842,626 - 1,301 18,077,683 
Other liabilities (330) 3,028,206 1,939 - - 3,030,145 
Deferred income and accrued liabilities (340) 5,556,216 207,585 128,875 222 5,892,898 
Provisions (350) 1,234,768 13,093 - - 1,247,860 
Subordinated debt (360) - - 4,260,800 - 4,260,800 

 
Total liabilities 16,447,718 16,065,243 4,389,675 1,523 36,904,159 

 
Net currency position (assets – liabilities) 62,436,798 (15,898,659) (4,235,896) 28,218 42,330,461 
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28. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 
c) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk means the Company’s incapacity to handle the short-term payment obligations using the assets realisable in the same period. 

 
The analysis of monetary assets and liabilities by liquidity terms, depending on the remainder up to the contractual due date are as follows as at December 31, 2018:  
 

Item 
Less than  
3 months 3-12 months 1-5 years 

More than 
5 years No maturity Total 

BS line Assets             

010 Petty cash and other cash 11,468 - - - - 11,468 

030 
Receivables from credit 
institutions 2,275,117 - - - - 2,275,117 

040 Receivables from customers (net) 3,847,176  9,429,273        32,676,103           104,192  -  46,056,744 

120 Other assets 4,119,311 11,736 177,095 46,484 160,711 4,515,337 

130 
Prepaid expenses and accrued 
income 2,556,613 234,856 386,674 240 - 3,178,383 

 

Total assets  12,809,685 9,675,865 33,239,872     150,916 160,711 56,037,049 

 
Liabilities        

300 
 
Liabilities to credit institutions - 200,000 - - - 200,000 

310 Liabilities to customers 1,800,328 - 7,447,070 - - 9,247,398 

330 Other liabilities 3,286,350 - - - - 3,286,350 

340 
Deferred income and accrued 
liabilities 1,028,301 1,027,013 1,793,001 832 - 3,849,147 

350 Provisions - - - - 906,319 906,319 

360 Subordinated debt - - 3,258,880 - - 3,258,880 

 
Total liabilities 6,114,979 1,227,013 12,498,951 832 906,319 20,748,094 

 
Net currency position (Assets-
Liabilities) 6,694,706 8,448,852 20,740,921 150,084 (745,608) 35,288,955 

 



CREDIUS IFN SA 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 

(all amounts are expressed in RON, unless otherwise specified) 

50 

28. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 
c)  Liquidity risk (continued) 
 

Item – December 31, 2019 
Less than  
3 months 3-12 months 1-5 years 

More than 
5 years No maturity Total 

BS line Assets             

010 
Petty cash and other 
cash 12,237 - - - - 12.237 

030 
Receivables from credit 
institutions 3,160,631 - - - - 3.160.631 

040 
Receivables from 
customers (net) 6,707,611 17,406,628 49,041,256 109,845 (6,954,482) 66.310.858 

120 Other assets 1,718,235 54,758 121,027 97,480 155,315 2.146.816 

130 
Prepaid expenses and 
accrued income 4,406,307 657,402 791,521 479 8,736 5.864.445 

 
Total assets  16,005,021 18,118,788 49,953,804 207,804 (6,790,431) 77,494,986 

 
Liabilities        

300 

 
Liabilities to credit 
institutions - - 4,394,773 - - 4.394.773 

310 Liabilities to customers 2,240,135 - 15,837,548 - - 18.077.683 

330 Other liabilities 3,030,145 - - - - 3.030.145 

340 
Deferred income and 
accrued liabilities 1,703,935 1,663,537 2,523,924 1,502 - 5.892.898 

350 Provisions - - - - 1,247,860 1.247.860 

360 Subordinated debt - - - 4,260,800 - 4.260.800 

 
Total liabilities 6,974,215 1,663,537 22,756,245 4,262,302 1,247,860 36,904,159 

 
Net currency position 
(Assets-Liabilities) 9,030,806 16,455,251 21,197,559 (4,054,498) (8,038,291) 40,590,827 
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28. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 
d) Taxation risk 
 
The taxation system in Romania is subject to various interpretations and permanent changes that may be 

retroactive. In certain cases, tax authorities may adopt a different position from the Company's position and 
may calculate certain interest and tax penalties. Although the current tax on a transaction may be insignificant, 
the penalties may be high depending on the tax authorities' interpretations. At the balance sheet date, there 
were no penalties paid by the Company.  
 
In Romania, there are a number of government agencies that have the right to conduct audits on companies 
and banks, Romanian or foreign legal entities. These audits are similar to those carried out by authorities in 
other countries, but may extend not only to tax issues, but also to other legal issues or regulations. In 
Romania, taxation periods remain open for fiscal audit for five years from the end of the period. 
 
e) Operating risk 
 

Operating risk is the risk of loss or non-realization of estimated profits, which can be determined by internal 
factors (inappropriate performance of internal activities, the existence of inadequate personnel or systems, 
etc.) or external factors (economic conditions, changes in the financial and banking environment, technological 
processes and advances, etc.).  
 
Given the importance that the Company gives to human capital, management of operating risk focuses on the 
proper management of personnel risk. At the same time, the management of legal risk is in view – component 
of operating risk, as a result of the non-application or defective application of the legal or contractual 
provisions, which adversely affects the operations or the situation of the Company.  
 
Operating risk events are monitored as they occur. Their record-keeping is managed and evaluated by 
monitoring the evolution of risk indicators.  

 
The following general principles apply to the management of operating risk: 

 monitoring the efficiency of new processes, products and partnerships; 
 close supervision of the activities generating operating risks by the management of each department of 

the Company, according to the specificity of the activity; 
 compliance with all legal regulations imposed by the competent bodies as well as internal norms; 
 review of the Company's processes by providing an effective program of internal audit engagements. 

 
In terms of risk management, internal audit is a component of the activity of monitoring the internal control 
system and assessing the adequacy of the level of treasury funds according to the risks to which the Company 
is exposed, in order to ensure an independent assessment of the adequacy of policies and procedures and how 

they are complied with. 
 
The activity of the internal auditor focuses on promoting the Company's operations in accordance with the 
legislation in force, control and compliance with internal rules and examining the activities carried out, in terms 
of compliance with security, transparency and practice requirements. 
 
f) Reputational risk 
 
Reputational risk is the risk of recording losses or not realizing the estimated profits, due to the lack of public 
confidence in the integrity of the Company. Reputational risk management aims to ensure a permanent positive 
image, in line with reality, in the market, before customers, credit institutions and other financial institutions in 
the system, shareholders, state, supervision, oversight institutions, and media. The Company also has a 

procedure regarding the operational risk management which aims at laying down the ways of action that would 
allow an efficient management of reputational risk. 
 
The monitoring of reputational risk is done by consistently monitoring and analysing: 

 incident reports;  
 compliance with the ethical code and professional conduct; 
 compliance with internal processes; 
 risk ratios to which the Company is exposed. 
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Starting with May 12, 2014, Credius is part of Lapworth Holdings Limited Group. In 2018, the Company registered 
transactions with related parties, having the following balances: 
 

BALANCE SHEET December 31, 2018 

ASSETS  
Investments:  
Credimatic Network SRL 202 
Business Microcedit IFN  SA 967 
Trade receivables:  

Integral Collection SRL 2,491,011 
Finopro IFN SA 1,042,644 

 
Total assets 3,534,824 

 
LIABILITIES  
 
Liabilities related to subordinated loan (interest):  
Lapworth Holdings Limited 32,935 
 
Trade payables:  
Integral Collection SRL 1,131,290 
Credimatic Network SRL 5,471 
Multibroker SRL 11,225 
 
Liabilities from assignment  

Integral Collection SRL 155,663 
Finopro IFN SA 1,350 
 
Subordinated debt (loan):  
Lapworth Holdings Limited 3,258,880 

 
Total liabilities 4,596,814 

 

INCOME STATEMENT 2018 

INCOME   
 
Other operating income  

Integral Collection SRL 3,239 

Credimatic Network SRL 157 
 
Income from assignment of receivables  

Integral Collection SRL 6,474,740 

Finopro IFN SA 1,042,644 

 

Total income 7,520,780 

 
EXPENSES  

Expenses with provision of financial services  

Integral Collection SRL 2,117,782 

Credimatic Network SRL 8,600 

Multibroker SRL 16,324 
 
Expenses with operating leases, rentals, management leases – rental 
of equipment  

Credimatic Network SRL 34,200 
 

Expenses with interest on subordinated loans  

Lapworth Holdings Limited 127,644 

 
Total expenses 2,304,550 
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29.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 
 
The table below presents a break-down of assignments as follows: 
 

2018 

Assignment 
date 

Amounts 
assigned  

Assignment 
price 

Partner  Assignment collection date 

 
30.04.2018 5,193,779 1,038,756 Integral Collection SRL May 2018 
01.05.2018 2,806,281 561,256 Integral Collection SRL June 2018 
07.06.2018 3,351,381 670,276 Integral Collection SRL August 2018 
01.07.2018 3,479,424 695,885 Integral Collection SRL August 2018 
01.08.2018 3,938,349 787,670 Integral Collection SRL September 2018 
25.08.2018 526,004 105,201 Integral Collection SRL September 2018 

01.09.2018 3,695,508 739,102 Integral Collection SRL 
September 2018 (partially RON 
613,480) 

30.09.2018 6,028,601 1,205,720 Integral Collection SRL April 2019 

31.10.2018 3,354,369 670,874 Integral Collection SRL June  2019 
30.12.2018 5,213,220 1,042,643 Finopro IFN SA March 2019 
Total 37,586,916 7,517,383    

 
In 2019, the Company registered transactions with related parties, having the following balances: 
 

BALANCE SHEET December 31, 2019 

ASSETS  
Investments:  
Credimatic Network SRL 2,107 
Business Microcedit IFN  SA 968 
 

Trade receivables:  
Finopro IFN S.A 609,015 
Business Microcedit IFN SA 4,960 

 
Total assets 617,050 

 
LIABILITIES  
 
Liabilities related to subordinated loan (interest):  
Broadhurst Investments Limited 128,875 
 
Trade payables:  
Integral Collection SRL 189,157 
Credimatic Network SRL 13,238 
Multibroker SRL (5,098) 

 
Liabilities from assignment  
Integral Collection SRL 8,653 
Finopro IFN S.A 169,436 
Business Microcredit IFN SA 12,889 
 
Subordinated debt (loan):  
Broadhurst Investments Limited 4,260,800 

 
Total liabilities 4,777,950 
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29.   RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 
 

INCOME STATEMENT 2019 

INCOME   
 
Other operating income  

Integral Collection SRL 879 

Finopro IFN S.A 276,361 

Business Microcredit IFN SA 28,815 
 
Income from assignment of receivables  

Integral Collection SRL (3,969) 

Finopro IFN S.A 4,767,957 

Business Microcredit IFN SA 10,828,153 

 
Total income 15,898,469 

 
EXPENSES  

Other operating expenses  

Integral Collection SRL 1,307 
 
Expenses with provision of financial services  

Integral Collection SRL 2,060,985 

Credimatic Network SRL 41,160 

Multibroker SRL 23,206 
 
Expenses with operating leases, rentals, management leases – 
rental of equipment  

Credimatic Network SRL 34,200 
 
Expenses with interest on subordinated loans  

Lapworth Holdings Limited 131,397 

Broadhurst Investments Limited 138,265 

 
Total expenses 2,430,520 

 
The table below presents a break-down of assignments as follows: 
 

2019 

Assignment 
date 

Amounts assigned  
Assignment 

price 
Partner  

Assignment collection 
date 

31.01.2019 1,744,438 348,888 Finopro IFN SA June 2019 
01.03.2019 (18,478) (3,696) Integral Collection SRL April 2019 

30.03.2019 1,493,765 298,753 Finopro IFN SA June  2019 
12.04.2019 26,746 5,349 Finopro IFN SA June 2019 
30.04.2019 1,373,824 274,765 Finopro IFN SA August 2019 
30.05.2019 1,923,571 384,714 Finopro IFN SA August 2019 
29.06.2019 1,944,102 388,820 Finopro IFN SA September 2019 
30.07.2019 1,535,764 307,153 Finopro IFN SA September 2019 
30.08.2019 2,005,016 401,003 Finopro IFN SA October 2019 
29.09.2019 3,624,619 724,924 Finopro IFN SA November 2019 
30.10.2019 2,685,728 537,146 Finopro IFN SA November 2019 
29.11.2019 2,437,202 487,440 Finopro IFN SA December 2019 
30.12.2019 3,045,010 609,002 Finopro IFN SA Not collected 

13.12.2019        10,828,153 10,828,153 Business Microcredit IFN SA December 2019 

 
Total 34,649,460 15,592,414   
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29.   RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 
 
Transactions with key management 
 
Mr. Andrei Buzgan, as CEO, holds the authority and responsibility to plan, manage and control the Company’s 

activity, being considered Company’s key personnel.  
 
In 2018 and 2019, the Company did not incur costs with the professional training of Mr. Andrei Buzgan. 
 
 
30.  CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 
At December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2019, the Company does not register neither contingent assets nor 
contingent liabilities. 
 
 
31. CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 
According to Law 93/2009 on non-banking financial institutions, the minimum share capital of a non-banking 
financial institution cannot be less than the RON equivalent of EUR 200,000 and EUR 3,000,000 for non-banking 
financial institutions that grant mortgage loans.  
 
The National Bank of Romania may establish by regulation levels of the minimum share capital above the level 
mentioned, according to the type of business of the non-banking financial institution.  
 
The share capital must be paid in full at the time of subscription, including in the case of increase thereof.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Company adopts the financial concept of capital. According to such 
concept, capital is synonymous with the net assets or equity of the entity.  

 
At December 31, 2018, the net asset position in relation to the share capital is as follows: 
 

Balance 
sheet line Item Total 

 Asset  

010 Petty cash and other cash 11,468 

030 Receivables from credit institutions 2,275,117 

040 Receivables from customers (net) 46,056,744 

070 Investments  1,169 

090 Intangible assets 1,365,547 

100 Property, plant and equipment  439,633 

120 Other assets 4,515,337 

130 Prepaid expenses and accrued income 3,178,383 

 
 
TOTAL ASSETS 57,843,398 

 
 
Liabilities   

300 
 
Liabilities to credit institutions 200,000 

310 Liabilities to customers 9,247,398 

330 Other liabilities 3,286,350 

340 Deferred income and accrued liabilities 3,849,147 

350 Provisions 906,319 

360 Subordinated debt 3,258,880 

 
 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 20,748,094 

 
 
Net position 36,563,377 

370 
 
Share capital 35,896,854 

 
 
Percentage of net asset 102% 
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31.  CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 
At December 31, 2019, the net asset in relation to share capital is as follows: 
 

Balance 

sheet line Item Total 

 Asset  

010 Petty cash and other cash 12,237 

030 Receivables from credit institutions 3,160,631 

040 Receivables from customers (net) 66,310,858 

070 Investments  3,075 

090 Intangible assets 1,434,598 

100 Property, plant and equipment  301,961 

120 Other assets 2,146,815 

130 Prepaid expenses and accrued income 5,864,445 

 
 
TOTAL ASSETS 79,234,620 

 
 
Liabilities   

300 
 
Liabilities to credit institutions 4,394,773 

310 Liabilities to customers 18,077,683 

330 Other liabilities 3,030,145 

340 Deferred income and accrued liabilities 5,892,898 

350 Provisions 1,247,860 

360 Subordinated debt 4,260,800 

 
 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 36,904,159 

 
 
Net position 42,330,461 

370 
 
Share capital 35,896,854 

 
 
Percentage of net asset 118% 

 
At December 31, 2019, the Company’s net asset is RON 42,330,461, representing approximately 118% of the 
value of share capital. 

 
 
 
32. INFORMATION ON GEOGRAPHICAL MARKETS 
 
In 2019, the Company ran its business in a single geographical and operating market only on the market of 
consumer loans in Romania. The Company’s customers are Romanian resident individuals and Romanian legal 
entities. 
 
 
33.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 
Between December 31, 2019 and the approval date of these financial statement, events occurred other than 
those already presented in the financial statements, as follows: 
 
A. In January-April 2020, the Company assigned to affiliate Business Microcredit IFN SA a number of 50 

performing contracts at a nominal value of RON 2,386,672 and an accounting value of RON 1,293,011. 
Considering the need to separate the operations and the strategic reallocation of the capitals at group 
level, the parties concluded a series of transactions for the sale of the car loan portfolio to Business 
Microcredit IFN SA. The transfer price represented 100% of the book value of the loan agreements, 
based on the principle of the equivalence of their origin by Business Microcredit IFN SA. During the same 
period, the Company sold to Finopro IFN SA a number of 1,066 non-performing loan agreements at a 
total nominal value of RON 14,491,854 and an accounting value of RON 5,652,687. The transfer price 

constituted 20% of the nominal book value of the transferred agreements, representing RON 1,130,537.
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33. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (continued) 
 
B. During January-April 2020, the Company made withdrawals amounting to EUR 2,123,086 and 

repayments amounting to EUR 2,435,923 related to the credit line granted by SIA Mintos Finance. As at 
30 April 2020, the amount available for drawing is EUR 3,999,057. During the same period, the Company 

made principal repayments amounting to RON 838,695 related to the loan granted by Libra Internetbank 
SA. The Company did not contract new loans / credit lines after the balance sheet date. 

 
C. In the context of the Covid-19 pandemic, starting March 2020, the Company has taken several actions to 

ensure the continuity of activity from an operational point of view as follows: 
 

- elaboration and approval of a business continuity plan detailing the relevant actions on 3 areas: 
operational, financial and portfolio management; 

- implementation of the telework program by rotation for the Company's employees; 

- ensuring the possibility of electronic signature both for the members of the directorate and for the 
colleagues who hold key positions in carrying out the activity; 

- analysis of the clauses regarding the cases of non-fulfilment of the obligations from the main 

financing agreements; 

- analysis of continuity clauses in agreements concluded for the outsourcing of significant activities; 

- renegotiation of commercial clauses from agreements concluded with third parties and 
recalibration of the volume of acquisitions made; 

- reconfiguration of business processes / operational flows and their focus on the digital 
infrastructure of the Company; 

- acquisition of disinfection materials and regular disinfection of the premises. 

 
In the context of the current estimates of the contraction of real GDP to the level of -6.5% and the increase of 
the unemployment rate to the level of 7.8% in 2020, the Company has decided to take a series of measures 
meant to protect the net assets of the Company, as well as the continuity of the activity in the future period. 
These measures include: 

 
- recalibration of the volume of new loans originated in the period starting March 2020, mainly in 

favour of the clients from Prime category; 

- intensification of the communication efforts with the clients and extension of the application of the 
amicable collection procedures; 

- reduction of operational costs by streamlining business processes / operational flows and 
eliminating redundancy elements; 

- decreasing financing costs by reducing the balance of financial liabilities; 

- maintaining a high level of liquidity and increased emphasis on corporate treasury management. 

 
At the same time, the Company supported its clients by granting facilities for postponing the payment of loan 

instalments as follows: (i) according to GEO 37/2020 (public moratorium) and (ii) the private facility for 
suspending the payment of instalments, at no additional cost, offered by the Company to its customers. During 
March-April 2020, the Company received 2,365 requests from debtors and granted 390 deferrals, of which 337 
were classified within the private facility offered by the Company. The Company anticipates a maximum number 
of 1,000 agreements for which it will postpone the payment of instalments, accounting for 5% of the total loan 
portfolio. 
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33. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (continued) 
 
Also, during March 2020, the Company initiated an extensive process of estimating the impact that the current 
context could have on the financial statements and capital requirements imposed by the National Bank of 
Romania. From the preliminary results some conclusions can be drawn, detailed below: 

 
- The average monthly loan portfolio will register during 2020 a slight decrease of approximately 

2%, amid the moderation of the lending activity during March-April 2020 and its moderate 
relaunch during May-December 2020. 

- Considering the modification of the loan portfolio structure, the Company estimates that interest 
income could increase slightly by approximately 5% compared to 2019. The change in the 
portfolio structure is determined by the sale of the car loan portfolio to affiliate company Business 
Microcredit IFN SA; 

- Other operating income will register a lateral evolution; 

- The operating costs will register a decrease of approximately 30% compared to the average level 
in 2019, against the background of the reconfiguration of the business processes / operational 
flows and the digital transformation of the Company; 

- The Company does not anticipate significant future losses from the granting of the facility for 
rescheduling loan installments, because: (i) according to GEO 37/2020 this possibility of 
rescheduling applies to consumer loans, by capitalizing the interest related to the suspension 
period; (ii) according to GEO 37/2020 this possibility of rescheduling can be granted only to those 
debtors who do not register arrears or have paid their outstanding debts until the submission of 
the request, (iii) the private moratorium facility offered by the Company has a maximum period of 
4 months, (iii) according to the information received from the National Bank of Romania, this 
rescheduling process does not imply the reclassification of customers into a lower classification 
category from the point of view of credit risk. 

Following the analyses performed, the Company does not anticipate that it will register significant losses in 
2020 (this will be reassessed depending on the actions taken by the Government and the supervisory 
authority). Also, the Company's management does not estimate a depreciation of its own funds below the limit 

of the capital requirement imposed by the National Bank of Romania. 
 
D. Liquidity analysis. The Company has implemented measures to maximize the value of organic cash flows 

by: (i) more rigorous filtering of lending applications, (ii) reduction of operating costs and (iii) use of 
excesses generated to repay loans / credit lines in order to reduce the cost of capital borrowed. As of 
April 30, 2020, the Company records unused (off-balance sheet) balances of outstanding loans / credit 
lines, as follows: (i) SIA Mintos Finance - EUR 3,999,057 and (ii) Broadhurst Invetsments Ltd. - 
1,000,000 USD. Thus, the Company is able to fulfil its payment obligations towards suppliers and 
creditors, according to the contracts concluded. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
These financial statements were signed and approved today, May 14, 2020, by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CEO,     Prepared by, 
Buzgan Andrei  Nistor Simona-Mihaela 
  Head of Financial and Accounting Department 
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